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1. Details of the reporting period

Current Period: 1 July 2012 – 30 June 2013

Previous Corresponding Period: 1 July 2011 – 30 June 2012

2. Results for announcement to the market

Change
%

Amount
$

2.1 Revenue from ordinary activities Up 31 to    29,911,909

EBITDA Up 21 to     11,737,036

Underlying EBITDA*   Up      24 to     12,066,534

2.2 Profit from ordinary activities after tax     
attributable to members

Up 12 to      4,751,323

2.3 Net profit for the period attributable to
members

Up 12 to      4,751,323

Underlying NPAT      Up 24 to      5,518,222

2.4 Dividends (Distributions) Amount
per share

(cents)

Franked
amount

per share
(cents)

Final dividend per share

Final dividend dates

Record date

Payment date

1.0

30 August 2013

30 September 2013

1.0

Brief explanation of Revenue, Net Profit and Dividends (Distributions):

*Once off acquisition and restructuring costs associated with business combinations
amounting to $594,941 have not been included in underlying EBITDA for the current
reporting period.

BigAir Group Limited considers underlying EBITDA and underlying NPAT to be a more
suitable indicator of operating performance since it is not affected by one-off costs and
amortisation of acquired customer bases associated with business combinations. Please
refer to note 18 below.

For further information on the results for the period refer to the review of operations section
of the attached Director’s report.
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3. Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income with notes

Refer attached annual report.

4. Statement of financial position with notes

Refer attached annual report.

5. Statement of cash flows with notes

Refer attached annual report.

6. Statement of changes in equity

Refer attached annual report.

7. Details of dividends / distributions

Refer to 2.4 above.

8. Details of dividends / distribution reinvestment plan

The company does not have a dividend reinvestment plan.

9. Net tangible assets per security

Current
Period

Previous
corresponding period

Net asset backing per share  20.2 cents 17.9 cents

Net tangible asset backing per share (i) 8.4 cents 6.2 cents

(i) Excludes intangible assets

10. Control gained or lost over entities during the period

Not applicable.

11. Details of associated and joint

The Group does not have any interests in associates or joint ventures.

12. Other significant information

Refer attached annual report.

13. Accounting standards used by foreign entities

Not applicable.
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14. Commentary on results

Current
Period

Previous
corresponding period

14.1 Earnings per share

Underlying Earnings per share*

2.91 cents

3.38 cents

2.78 cents

2.90 cents

14.2 Return to shareholders - final dividend 1 cent   1 cent

*Underlying Earnings per share is calculated by excluding the after tax acquisition,
amortisation of acquired customer bases and restructuring costs associated with Business
Combinations.

14.3 Significant features of operating performance

Refer the attached annual report (Directors’ report)

14.4 Segment results

Refer attached annual report.

14.5 Trends in performance

Refer the attached annual report (Directors’ report)

14.6 Other factors

Refer the attached annual report (Directors’ report)

15. Audit / review of accounts upon which the report is based
This report is based on accounts which have been audited (refer attached annual report).

16. Accounts not yet audited or reviewed

Not applicable (see above).

17. Qualification of audit / review

There was no audit qualification.
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18. Reconciliation of underlying EBITDA and underlying NPAT

 Current period

 Previous

corresponding

period

EBITDA 11,737,036 9,689,544

Acquisition purchase price adjustment (265,443) -

Deal and restructure costs 594,941 61,447

Underlying EBITDA 12,066,534 9,750,991

NPAT 4,751,323 4,225,483

After tax effect of:

Amortisation of acquired customer bases 536,248 177,108

Acquisition purchase price adjustment (185,810) -

Deal and restructure costs 416,461 43,013

Underlying NPAT 5,518,222 4,445,604
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The Board is committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest standards of corporate governance. As 
such, BigAir Group Limited and its controlled entities (‘the Group’) have adopted a corporate governance 
framework and practices to ensure they meet the interests of shareholders. 
 
The Group complies with the Australian Securities Exchange Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations 2nd Edition (‘the ASX Principles’). This statement 
incorporates the disclosures required by the ASX Principles under the headings of the eight core principles. 
All of these practices, unless otherwise stated, were in place for the full reporting period. 
 
Principle 1: Lay solid foundation for management and oversight  
 
Functions of the Board and Management 
The Board has adopted a charter that details the roles and responsibilities of the Board and its members and 
their relationship with management to achieve the objectives of delivering shareholder value. The Board’s 
Charter, Continuous Disclosure Plan and Code of Conduct and Ethics are available for access by 
shareholders and the general public.  
 
To ensure that the Board is well equipped to discharge its responsibilities it has established guidelines for the 
nomination and selection of directors and for the operation of the Board. These responsibilities include: 

 Setting the strategy for the Group, including operational and financial objectives and ensuring that 
there are sufficient resources for this strategy to be achieved. 

 Appointing and, where appropriate, removing the Chief Executive Officer (‘CEO’), and approving 
other key executive appointments and planning for executive succession. 

 Overseeing and evaluating the performance of the CEO and the executive team through a formal 
performance appraisal process having regard to the Group’s business strategies and objectives. 

 Monitoring compliance with legal, regulatory and occupational health and safety requirements 
and standards. 

 Overseeing the identification of key risks faced by the Group and the implementation of an 
appropriate internal control framework to ensure those risks are managed to an acceptable level. 

 Approving the Group’s budgets, including operational and capital budgets, and the approval of 
significant acquisitions, expenditures or divestitures. 

 Approval of the annual and half-yearly financial reports. 
 Ensuring the market and shareholders are fully informed of material developments. 

 
The responsibility for the operation and administration of the Group is delegated by the Board to the Chief 
Executive Officer (‘CEO’) and the executive management team. The Board ensures that the executive team, 
including the CEO, are appropriately qualified and experienced to discharge their responsibilities and, as 
discussed above, has in place procedures to monitor and assess their performance. 
 
To ensure that the responsibilities of the Board are upheld and executed to the highest level, the Board has 
established the following sub-committees: 

 Audit and Risk Committee. 
 Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 

 
Sub-committees are able to focus on a particular responsibility and provide informed feedback to the Board. 
Each of these sub-committees have established Charters and operating procedures in place, which are 
reviewed on a regular basis. The Board may also establish other sub-committees from time to time to deal 
with issues of special importance. 
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Senior Executive performance evaluation 
The Board reviews the performance of the CEO and executive team on a half-yearly basis. Performance is 
measured against a set of key performance indicators which have been established with reference to the 
Group’s strategy and the individual’s responsibilities. This is in accordance with Corporate Governance 
Recommendation 1.2. 
 
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee annually reviews and determines the remuneration 
arrangements for the CEO and executive team, submitting their recommendations to the Board for approval. 
 
Principle 2: Structure the board to add value 
 
The membership of the Board during the year ended 30 June 2013, including independence status and date of 
appointment and resignation (if applicable) was as follows: 
 
Director Status Date of Appointment Date of Resignation 

 
Paul Tyler 
 

Independent Non-Executive 
Chairman 

15 September 2008 - 

Nigel Jeffries Non-Executive Director 9 May 2006 - 
Vivian Stewart  Non-Executive Director 11 June 2008 - 
Jason Ashton Executive Director and Chief 

Executive Officer  
7 June 2002 - 

 
The Board considers that there should be an appropriate mix of skills, personal attributes and experience to 
enable the Board and individual directors to discharge their duties and responsibilities in the interest of and 
to maximise shareholder value.  
 
The Board’s composition is determined with regard to the following criteria: 

 A majority of non-executive directors and an independent non-executive director as chairman. 
 A majority of directors having extensive experience in the industries that the Group operates in, 

with those that do not, having extensive experience in significant aspects of financial reporting 
and risk management in large ASX listed companies. 

 Re-election of directors at least every three years (except for the Chief Executive Officer). 
 The size of the board is appropriate to facilitate effective discussion and efficient decision making. 
 There are a sufficient number of directors to serve on Board sub-committees without overburdening 

the directors of making it difficult for the directors to effectively discharge their responsibilities. 
 
With regards to director independence, the Board has adopted specific principles which state that an 
independent director must not be a member of management and must comply with the following criteria: 

 Not, within the last three years, have been employed in an executive capacity by BigAir Group 
Limited or any other member of the Group. 

 Not be a substantial shareholder or be associated either directly or indirectly with a substantial 
shareholder. 

 Not, within the last three years, have been a professional advisor to the Group either as a 
principal, or material consultant, or an employee materially associated with the service provided. 

 Are not a material supplier or customer of the Group or associated either directly or indirectly 
with a material supplier or customer of the Group. 

 Have no material contractual relationship with any entity within the Group other than in the 
capacity as a director. 
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During the financial year two Directors were, based on the above criteria, considered independent and is 
deemed adequate due to the size of the Company.   
 
The Board undertakes an annual review of the extent to which each non-executive director is independent, 
having regard to the criteria set out in its Charter. As part of this review, each director is required to make an 
annual declaration stating their compliance with the independence criteria to the Board.  
 
The skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of director held by each director in office at the 
date of the annual report are set out in the Directors’ Report which immediately follows on from this 
Corporate Governance Statement.  
 
Role of the Chairman 
 
The Board Charter provides that the Chairman should be an independent non-executive director. The 
Chairman is responsible for the leadership of the Board. This includes taking responsibility for ensuring that 
the Board functions effectively and that they comply with the continuous disclosure requirements of the ASX 
with regard to communicating the operations and activities of the Group to shareholders. The Chairman’s 
responsibilities are set out in the Board Charter and include: 

 Setting the agenda for Board meetings. 
 Managing the conduct, frequency and length of Board meetings to ensure that all directors have 

had the opportunity to establish a detailed understanding of the issues affecting the Group. 
 Facilitating the Board meetings to ensure effective communication between the directors and that 

all directors have contributed to the decision making process thereby leading to a considered 
decision being made in the best interest of the Group and its shareholders. 

 
The Board Committees 
 
Two Board Committees have been established to assist in the discharge of the Board’s responsibilities, the 
Audit and Risk Committee and a Nomination and Remuneration Committee. It has been the Boards policy 
that these Committees be chaired by an Independent Director. The Board may, at its discretion, establish 
other special purpose committees. The membership of the committees during the year ended 30 June 2013 is 
outlined below. 
 
Committee 
Membership 

Audit & Risk 
Committee 

Nominations & 
Remuneration Committee 

Date of 
Appointment 

Date of  
Resignation 

Paul Tyler Chairman Chairman 15 September 2008 - 
Nigel Jeffries Member Member 9 May 2006 - 
Vivian 
Stewart 

Member Member 11 June 2008 - 

Jason Ashton In attendance - 7 June 2002 - 
 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
 
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee oversees the appointment and induction process for directors 
and the selection, appointment and succession planning process of the Group’s Chief Executive Officer.  
When a vacancy exists or there is a need for a particular skill, the Committee, in consultation with the Board, 
determines the selection criteria that will be applied. The Committee will then identify suitable candidates, 
with assistance from an external consultant if required, and will assist the Board in interviewing and 
assessing the selected candidates. 
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Directors are initially appointed to office by the Board and must stand for re-election at the Group’s next 
annual general meeting of shareholders. Directors must then retire from office and nominate for re-election 
at least once every three years with the exception of the Chief Executive Officer. Details of attendance at 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee meetings are set out in the Meetings of Directors section of the 
Directors’ Report. 
 
Directors’ performance evaluation 
The Board undertakes an assessment of its collective performance, the performance of the Board committees 
and the Chairman on an annual basis. The Chairman meets each Director on an individual basis to discuss 
their performance and to provide feedback. The results of this discussion including any key areas for 
development are formally documented. 
 
Each Board committee annually reviews the fulfillment of its responsibilities as set out in its Charter and 
provides a report with a summary of issues and recommendations for the Board’s review. Upon review the 
Board will then provide their feedback to the Committee including an endorsement of the recommendations 
made. This is in accordance with Corporate Governance Recommendation 2.5. 
 
Independent professional advice and access to information 
Each Director has the right of access to all relevant information in the Group in addition to access to the 
Group’s executives. Each Director also has the right to seek independent professional advice subject to prior 
consultation with, and approval from, the Chairman. This advice will be provided at the Group’s expense and 
will be made available to all members of the Board.  
 
Insurance 
The Group has in place a Directors and Officers liability insurance policy providing a specified level of 
cover for current and former Directors and executive Officers of the Group against liabilities incurred whilst 
acting in their respective capacity. 
 
All members of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee were non-executive directors for the financial 
year.  
 
Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision making 
 
Code of Conduct 
The Group recognises the importance of establishing and maintaining high ethical standards and decision 
making in conducting its business and is committed to increasing shareholder value in conjunction with 
fulfilling its responsibilities as a good corporate citizen. All Directors, managers and employees are expected 
to act with the utmost integrity, honesty and objectivity, striving at all times to enhance the reputation and 
performance of the Group. 
 
The Group has established a Code of Conduct and a Directors and Officers Code of Conduct, copies of 
which are available on BigAir’s website under the Investor Relations section. New employees are introduced 
to the Code of Conduct as part of their induction training. Employees sign a declaration confirming receipt of 
the Code of Conduct and their compliance with it. Periodic training is then provided throughout the course of 
their employment. 
 
Unethical practices, including fraud, legal and regulatory breaches, and policy breaches are required to be 
reported on a timely basis to management. Reporting parties are able to do so without fear of reprisal or 
retribution as their identity and report are kept in the strictest confidence. External third party reporting 
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procedures are available to employees to provide them with the assurance that their identity will be kept 
confidential at all times. 
 
Share Trading Policy 
The Group has established a share trading policy which governs the trading in the Group’s shares and applies 
to all Directors and employees of the Group. Under this share trading policy, an executive, employee or 
director must not trade in any securities of the Group at any time when they are in possession of unpublished, 
price sensitive information in relation to those securities. 
 
Before commencing to trade, an executive or employee must first obtain the permission of the Company 
Secretary to do so, and a director must obtain the permission of the Chairman. The trading windows are two 
weeks leading up to the release of the half year results, full year results and the holding of the Annual 
General Meeting. Trading of securities outside the trading windows can only occur in exceptional 
circumstances and with the approval of the Company Secretary.  As required by the ASX listing rules, the 
Group notifies the ASX of any transaction conducted by Directors in the securities of the Group. 
 
Diversity Policy 
Diversity includes, but is not limited to, gender, age, ethnicity and cultural background. The Group is 
committed to diversity and recognises the benefits arising from employee and board diversity and the 
importance of benefiting from all available talent. This diversity policy outlines the requirements for the 
Board to develop measurable objectives for achieving diversity, and annually assess both the objectives and 
the progress in achieving those objectives. Accordingly, the Board has developed the following objectives 
regarding gender diversity and aims to achieve these objectives over the next few years as director and senior 
executive positions become vacant and appropriately qualified candidates become available: 
 
 2013 2014-2015 
 No % No % 
Women on the Board 0 0 0 0 
Women in senior management roles 0 0 2 25 
Women employees in the company 11 16 19 25 

 
Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 
 
Audit and Risk Committee 
 
An Audit and Risk Committee has been established by the Board. The Committee’s role and operations are 
documented in a Charter which is approved by the Board.  
 
The purpose of the Committee is to: 

 Ensure the integrity of the Group’s internal and external financial reporting including compliance 
with applicable laws and regulations. 

 Ensure that financial information provided to the Board is of a sufficiently high quality to allow 
the Board to make informed decisions. 

 Ensure that appropriate and effective internal systems and controls are in place to manage the  
Group’s exposure to risk. 

 Oversee the appointment, compensation, retention and oversight of the external auditor, and 
review of any non-audit services provided by the external auditor. 

 Regularly review the performance of the external auditor regarding quality, costs and independence. 
 



BigAir Group Limited– Consolidated Entity 
 

Corporate governance statement 
 

 

 
- 7 - 

 

The Audit and Risk Committee is required under the Charter to meet at least twice a year and otherwise as 
necessary. The Committee met twice during the year and Committee members’ attendance records are 
disclosed in the Directors’ Meetings section of the Directors’ Report. Both the Audit and Risk Committee 
and the Board is chaired by the same independent director due to the size of the Company.  
 
The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and external auditor also regularly attend the 
Committee meetings by standing invitation. Other Directors and management are invited to attend 
Committee meetings and participate in discussion relating to specific issues that they have an interest in. 
 
The Committee is authorised to obtain independent legal advice at the Group’s expense if it considers it 
necessary in fulfilling its duties. 
 
Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure 
 
BigAir Group Limited has established policies and procedures to ensure timely and balanced disclosure of all 
material matters concerning the Group, and ensure that all investors have access to information on the 
Group’s financial performance. This ensures that the Group is compliant with the information disclosure 
requirements under the ASX Listing Rules. 
 
These policies and procedures include a Continuous Disclosure Policy that includes identification of matters 
that may have a material impact on the price of BigAir Group’s securities, notifying them to the ASX, 
posting relevant information on the Group’s website and issuing media releases. The policy is available on 
the Company’s website. The Board continuously monitors for compliance.  
 
Matters involving potential market sensitive information must first be reported to the Chief Executive 
Officer either directly or via the Company Secretary. The Chief Executive Officer will advise the other 
Directors if the issue is important enough to warrant the consideration of the full Board. In all cases the 
appropriate action must be determined and carried out in a timely manner in order for the Group to comply 
with the Information Disclosure requirements of the ASX. 
 
Once the appropriate course of action has been agreed upon, either the Chief Executive Officer or Company 
Secretary will disclose the information to the relevant authorities, being the only authorised officers of the 
Group who are able to disclose such information. Board approval is required for market sensitive 
information such as financial results, material transactions or upgrading/downgrading financial forecasts. 
This approval is minuted in the meetings of the Board of Directors. 
 
The Board is responsible for appointing the external auditor, subject to confirmation by shareholders at the 
Company’s Annual General Meeting. The Audit and Risk Management Committee is responsible for 
implementing a selection process for appointment of the auditor and making a recommendation to the Board 
based on their assessment of the responses received from potential external auditors. In making any 
recommendation, the Audit and Risk Management Committee confers with senior executives on the 
responses received. The assessment of responses from potential external auditors takes into account a 
number of key criteria, including audit approach and methodology, internal governance processes, global 
resources, key personnel and cost. 
 
Once the review process has taken place the Audit and Risk Management Committee provides the Board 
with information concerning the process adopted in undertaking the review, the recommended external 
auditor and the reasons for final recommendation. In line with current professional standards the Company 
requires the signing audit partner and review partner of its external auditor to rotate every 5 years. 
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Principle 6: Respect the rights of the shareholders 
 
BigAir Group Limited has established a Shareholder Communication Policy which describes the Group’s 
approach to promoting effective communication with shareholders which includes: 

 The annual report, including relevant information about the operations of the Group during the year, 
key financial information, changes in the state of affairs and indications of future developments. The 
annual report can be accessed either through the ASX website or BigAir Group’s website. 

 The half year and full year financial results are announced to the ASX and are available to 
shareholders via the BigAir Group and ASX websites. 

 All announcements made to the market and related information (including presentations to investors 
and information provided to analysts or the media during briefings), are made available to all 
shareholders under the investor information section of BigAir Group’s website after they have been 
released to the ASX. 

 Detailed notices of shareholder meetings are sent to all shareholders in advance of the meeting. 
 Shareholding and dividend payment details are available through the Group’s share registry, 

Boardroom Pty Limited. 
 

The Board encourages full participation by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to ensure a high 
level of Director accountability to shareholders and shareholder identification with the Group’s strategy and 
goals. Important issues are presented to the shareholders as single resolutions. The shareholders are 
requested to vote on matters such as the adoption of the Group’s remuneration report, the granting of options 
and shares to Directors and changes to the Constitution. 
 
The external auditor attends the Annual General Meeting to answer any questions concerning the audit of the 
Group and the contents of the auditor’s report. 
 
Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk  
 
Risk management framework 
 
BigAir Group Limited recognises that a robust risk management framework is essential for corporate 
stability, protecting the interests of its stakeholders and for sustaining its competitive market position and 
long term performance. 
The following objectives drive the Group’s approach to risk management: 

 Having a culture that is risk aware and supported by high standards of accountability at all levels. 
 Promoting and achieving an integrated risk management approach whereby risk management forms 

a part of all key organisational processes. 
 Supporting more effective decision making through better understanding and consideration of risk 

exposures. 
 Increasing shareholder value by protecting and improving share price and earnings per share in the 

short to medium term while building a sustainable business in the longer term. 
 Safeguarding the Group’s assets. 
 Enabling the Board to fulfil its governance and compliance requirements. 
 Supporting the sign off for ASX Principles four and seven by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief 

Financial Officer. 
 

In achieving effective risk management, BigAir Group Limited recognises the importance of leadership. As 
such, the Board and executive management have responsibility for driving and supporting risk management 
across the Group. Each subsidiary then has responsibility for implementing this approach and adapting it, as 
appropriate, to its own circumstances.  
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Audit and Risk Committee 
 
Under its Charter, the Audit and Risk Committee has been delegated responsibility by the Board to oversee 
the implementation and review of risk management and related internal compliance and control systems 
throughout the Group. 
 
The Committee reviews the appropriateness and adequacy of internal processes for determining, assessing 
and monitoring risk areas including the assessment of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal compliance 
and controls including: 

 The existence and adequacy of key policies and procedures. 
 The adequacy of disclosures and processes for regular reporting of information to the appropriate 

parties, including the Board. 
 
The Committee is also responsible for monitoring the Group’s compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations including: 

 Ensuring that management is reviewing developments and changes in applicable laws and 
regulations relating to the Group’s responsibilities. 

 Reviewing management’s actions and responses to ensure that the Group’s practices are compliant 
with all new developments. 

 Reviewing material actual and suspected breaches of applicable laws and regulations, and any 
breaches of Group policies. 

 Reviewing material litigation, legal claims, contingencies or significant risks relating to the Group. 
 Reviewing Director and executive management related party transactions. 

 
The Audit and Risk Committee reports to the Board on the major issues and findings that are presented and 
discussed at its meetings. 
 
Corporate reporting 
 
The Board has required management to design and implement a risk management and internal control system 
to manage the Group’s material business risks and to report on whether those risks are being effectively 
managed. 
 
The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have reported and declared in writing to the Board 
as to the effectiveness of the Group’s management of its material business risks, in accordance with 
Recommendation 7.2 of the ASX Corporate Governance Principles. 
 
The Board has received the relevant declarations from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer in accordance with s295A of the Corporations Act 2001 and the relevant assurances required under 
Recommendation 7.3 of the ASX Corporate Governance Principles. 
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Principle 8: Remuneration fairly and responsibly  
 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
 
As previously stated in Principle 2, the Board has established a Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
whose role is documented in a Charter which is approved by the Board. The objective of the Committee with 
respect to its remuneration function is to assist the Board in determining appropriate remuneration 
arrangements for the Directors and executive management. These objectives include: 

 Reviewing the adequacy and form of remuneration of Independent Non-Executive Directors. 
 Ensuring that the remuneration of the Independent Non-Executive Directors is reflective of the 

responsibilities and the risks of being a Director of the Group. 
 Reviewing the contractual arrangements of the Chief Executive Officer and the executive 

management team including their remuneration. 
 Comparing the remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer and executive management to 

comparable groups within similar industries to ensure that the remuneration on offer can attract, 
retain and properly reward performance which will translate into long term growth in shareholder 
value. 

 Annually review key performance indicators of the Chief Executive Officer and executive team to 
ensure that they remain congruent with the Group’s strategies and objectives. 

 Reviewing the basis for remuneration of other Executive Directors of the Group for their services as 
Directors. 

 Reviewing incentive performance arrangements when instructed by the Board. 
 Reviewing proposed remuneration arrangements for new Director or executive appointments. 

 
The Committee will submit their recommendations to the Board regarding the remuneration arrangements 
and performance incentives for the Chief Executive Officer and executive team. The Board will review these 
recommendations before providing their approval. 
 
Details of the Group’s remuneration structure and details of senior executives’ remuneration and incentives 
are set out in the Remuneration Report contained within the Directors’ Report. The Remuneration Report 
also contains details on the structure of Non-Executive Director Remuneration. 
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The directors of BigAir Group Limited submit herewith the annual financial report of the BigAir Group 
Ltd consolidated entity for the year ended 30 June 2013.  In order to comply with the provisions of the 
Corporations Act 2001, the directors’ report is as follows: 
 
Directors 
 
The names and particulars of the directors of the Company during or since the end of the financial year 
are:  
 

Name Particulars 

Paul Tyler 
(Independent  
Non-Executive 
Chairman) 

B.Eng, MBA. Over 18 years international experience in the 
Telecommunications industry holding executive roles in Nokia Siemens 
Networks, Nokia and Alcatel. Currently Head of the Asia Pacific Region 
at Nokia Siemens Networks and previously Managing Director of Nokia 
Siemens Networks for Australia, New Zealand and the Pacific 
Islands. Chairman of Nomination and Remuneration Committee and Audit 
Committee. 

Jason Ashton 
(CEO and 
Managing Director) 

B.Sc, M. Comm.  Co-founded BigAir in 2002. Previously co-founded 
business ISP Magna Data in 1993, which was acquired by Davnet Limited 
in 1999 for $20m. Also served as CEO of DavTel Pty Ltd, Australian 
subsidiary of NTT Communications (Japan). 

Nigel Jeffries 
(Non-Executive 
Director) 

B. Comm. New Zealand based investor and CEO of Propertyiq NZ Ltd, a 
joint venture company of RP Data Pty Ltd and QV Ltd.  20 years’ 
experience in senior positions in Information and Technology 
sector.  Holds a Commerce degree from Massey University. Member of 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee. 

Vivian Stewart 
(Non-executive 
Director) 

B.A., MBA.  Extensive background in IT&T industry, venture capital and 
corporate advisory.  Co-founded two IT&T companies and currently a 
director of Hall Capital specialising in capital raisings and corporate 
strategy. Member of Nomination and Remuneration Committee and Audit 
Committee. 

 
The above named directors held office of the Company during and since the end of the financial year. 
 
Directorships of other listed companies 
 
None of the directors held directorships of other listed companies in the 3 years immediately before the 
end of the financial year.  
 
Former partners of the audit firm 
 

None of the officers of the Company were a partner in the auditor of the Group at any time prior to or 
during the financial year.  
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Company secretary 
 

Name Particulars 

Charles Chapman  
(CFO and Company 
Secretary) 
 
 
 
 

Chartered Accountant (CA), Certified Information Systems Auditor (CISA) 
and a member of the Project Management Institute. Extensive experience 
working in senior executive roles providing operational and strategic 
leadership to both listed and private unlisted companies. Long service with 
PricewaterhouseCoopers, leading the provision of audit services for some of 
the firm's flagship clients. Driving force behind online share trading in 
South Africa with the listed PSG Group. Currently Chief Financial Officer 
of the Group. 

 
 
Remuneration of directors and senior management  
 
Information about the remuneration of directors and senior management is set out in the Remuneration 
Report of this directors’ report, on pages 18 to 23.  
 
Principal activities 
 
BigAir owns and operates Australia's largest metropolitan business fixed wireless broadband 
network.  The Australian business market comprises nearly one million businesses, and BigAir's network 
provides near blanket coverage across its nine largest cities Sydney, Melbourne, Brisbane, Perth, 
Adelaide, Newcastle, Gold Coast, Sunshine Coast and Darwin, and is now also offering services in a 
number of regional markets.  BigAir provides broadband and data services primarily through its channel 
partners who include ISPs, Carriers, and other IT service companies who have existing relationships with 
business customers in order to deliver BigAir's high speed, cost effective fixed wireless broadband 
solutions. 
 
BigAir is also the leading provider of outsourced managed Internet services in the tertiary student 
accommodation market within Australia, with network infrastructure at more than 124 sites across 
Australia.  BigAir is able to provide a complete end to end solution for student accommodation providers 
including both wireless and wired infrastructure delivering high speed broadband along with its advanced 
billing systems and operational support systems. 
 
BigAir's competitive infrastructure advantage includes its state-of-the-art business-grade fixed wireless 
network which allows it to install business-grade symmetric broadband services at speeds up to 
1000Mbps and distances up to 30km from its base stations with installation taking as little as a few 
hours.  Most of BigAir's competitors rely on access to Telstra's copper network which can take weeks to 
install a service and often does not deliver fast symmetric speeds. 
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Review of Operations 
 
Over the past 12 months BigAir has focused on the completion of the integration work relating to the 
businesses it acquired in middle calendar year 2012. In addition the network has been further expanded to 
support growing customer demand outside of its existing footprint.  More recently the company 
announced the acquisition of Intelligent IP Communications which brings a new suite of services that are 
complementary to BigAir’s existing network service offerings and customer assets. 
 
BigAir’s Business Fixed Wireless division was boosted by the integration of Allegro’s corporate fixed 
wireless division, which was consolidated from 1st June 2012, and also by the acquisition of Link, which 
was consolidated from the 1st of July 2012. 
 
The integration of Allegro’s tertiary student accommodation division into the BigAir Community 
Broadband business has made a substantial positive contribution to that business as well and BigAir now 
enjoys its strongest ever market position in the tertiary student accommodation sector.  The integration of 
these acquired businesses had been progressing as planned, with further synergies to be extracted over the 
course of FY14. 

 

 
 

BigAir considers underlying EBITDA to be a more suitable indicator of operating performance since it is 
not affected by one-off costs associated with business combinations. One-off costs associated with 
business combinations amounted to $594,941 for the year. 
 
The financial results reflect the strength of the Company’s two divisions and its unique set of competitive 
advantages. 
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The Business Fixed Wireless division delivered 25% revenue growth to $21.9 million, and 23% growth in 
EBITDA to $10.35 million. The revenue growth was driven by its rapidly expanding footprint servicing 
the high margin corporate and wholesale markets, and a full year contribution from prior acquisitions 
after some lower margin services were discontinued. 

 

 
 

The Community Broadband division delivered 47% revenue growth to $8.0 million, and 34% growth in 
EBITDA to $1.71 million. The revenue growth was driven by a combination of organic growth, and full 

year contribution from prior acquisitions. New systems and offers are being introduced in 1HFY14 to 
improve revenue at existing sites, and there is a strong pipeline of new beds for activation from beginning 

of CY14. Margins will continue to improve as acquired sites are migrated to the BigAir network. 
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Key Financial Highlights 
 
BigAir delivered record Full Year consolidated Revenue of $29.9 million in FY13 which is an increase of 
31% versus the $22.9 million Full Year Revenue recorded in FY12.  The Company also delivered record 
underlying EBITDA profit for FY13 of $12.1 million an increase of 24% versus the $9.8 million 
EBITDA recorded in FY12. 
 
Key highlights of the financial results for FY13 include: 
 
 Revenue up 31% to $29.9 million 
 Gross profit up 24% to $21.0 million 
 Underlying EBITDA up 24% to $12.1 million 
 Underlying Net Profit after tax up 24% to $5.5 million 
 Underlying Earnings Per Share up 17% to 3.4 cents 
 Strong balance sheet with no debt and $2.1 million cash; pro forma net debt post completion of 

Intelligent IP Communications will be less than $7 million and pro forma gearing (net debt to equity) 
of 12% 

 Final dividend declared of 1.0 cent per share fully franked 
 
 
Business Outlook 
 
BigAir is well placed to continue its growth trajectory. The BigAir proprietary network is a key asset, 
delivering NBN end game speeds today.  With national fixed wireless coverage in all key metropolitan 
markets, expanding coverage in selected regional markets, and 2,000 kilometres of new footprint in 
Western Australia following the acquisition of Intelligent IP Communications, BigAir is well placed to 
continue growing not only the number of business customers, but also the number of services provided to 
each of its customers.  Returns from the Business fixed wireless division are expected to continue to 
grow, reflecting declining capex as BigAir continues to grow scale.  
 
The tertiary student accommodation sector in Australia is a very attractive market that is expected to 
return to growth underpinned by the depreciating Australian dollar.  The foreign student segment had 
previously declined by 20% since its peak in 2010 following the $AUD reaching parity with the $USD in 
November 2010. In the previous 8 years the foreign student education market increased by 11% 
compounded per annum. Foreign student enrolments for 2014 are well up on the previous year and this 
should provide underlying growth impetus to the BigAir Community broadband business.  In addition 
BigAir has put in place new systems and offers that are expected to drive further revenue growth at 
existing sites.  With a strong pipeline of new student beds being activated at the start of 2014, and entry 
into the remote mining accommodation market with several large opportunities being pursued to build on 
the acquisition of Intelligent IP Communications, BigAir expects continued strong growth in this 
business. 
 
With a successful track record building shareholder value through acquisitions, BigAir will be ensuring 
that the integration of Intelligent IP Communications will be successfully completed over the next 12 
months.  This is BigAir’s largest acquisition yet, and is extremely strategic given the organic growth 
opportunities it provides through new markets and added services to the existing customer base. 
 
Having grown the business consistently year-on-year for the past four years we continue to be excited by 
the opportunities that lie ahead for BigAir.  With a strong balance sheet, an expanding business now 
achieving significant scale economies, continued growth in demand for existing services, and attractive 
new market opportunities, we are well placed to continue growing shareholder value. 
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Significant changes in the state of affairs 
 
During the financial year there was no significant change in the state of affairs of the Group.  
 
Dividends 
 
In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2013, a fully franked dividend of $1,639,711 was declared 
with a payment date of 30 September 2013.  The Company paid a maiden partially franked (19%) 
dividend of $1,623,572 in relation to the previous financial year. 
 
Events arising since the end of the reporting period 
 
A fully franked dividend of $1,639,711 has been declared with a payment date of 30 September 2013. 
 
On 6 August 2013, the Group entered into a share sale agreement to acquire all of the shares in Western 
Australia-telecommunications carrier Intelligent IP Communications Pty Ltd (“IIPC”). The acquisition is 
expected to complete on or before 31 August 2013. For further details of the acquisition, please refer to 
Note 32. 
 
Likely developments 
 
Information on likely developments in the Group’s operations and the expected results have not been 
included in this report because the directors believe it would likely result in unreasonable prejudice to the 
Group. 
 
Unissued shares under option  
 
Unissued ordinary shares of the Group under option at the date of this report are: 
 

Date options 
granted Expiry date 

Exercise price of 
shares ($) Number under Option 

23 December 2011 23 December 2016 0.282 3,153,334 
 
All options expire on the earlier of their expiry date or termination of the employee’s employment. 
These options were issued under either the Director and Executives Option Scheme or Employee’ Option 
Scheme (described in Note 8 to the financial statements) and have been allotted to individuals on 
condition that they serve specified time periods as an employee of the Group before becoming entitled to 
exercise the options. These options do not entitle the holder to participate in any share issue of the 
Company. 
 
Shares issued during or since the end of the year as a result of exercise 
 
During or since the end of the financial year, the Group issued ordinary shares as a result of the exercise 
of options as follows (there were no amounts unpaid on the shares issued): 
 

 
Issued to 

Date options 
 granted 

Issue price 
 of shares ($) 

Number under 
Option 

 
Directors 

 
23 December 2011

 
0.282 650,000

Employees 23 December 2011 0.282 426,666 
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Environmental legislation 
 
The Group is not subject to any particular or significant environmental regulation under a law of the 
Commonwealth or of a State or Territory in Australia. 
 

Indemnification of officers and auditors 
 

During the year, the Company confirmed a contract insuring the directors, the Company secretary and all 
executive officers of the Company against a liability incurred by a director or officer to the extent 
permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.  The insurance cover is effective from 1 November 2012 for a 
period of 12 months. 
 
The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that 
may be brought against the officers in their capacity as officers of the Group, and any other payments 
arising from liabilities incurred by the officers in connection with such proceedings, other than where 
such liabilities arise out of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by the officers or the improper use 
by the officers of their position or of information to gain advantage for themselves or someone else to 
cause detriment to the Group. 
 
Details of the amount of the premium paid in respect of the insurance policies are not disclosed as such 
disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the contract. 
 
The Group has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, except to the extent permitted 
by law, indemnified or agreed to indemnify any current or former officer or auditor of the Group against a 
liability incurred as such by an officer or auditor. 
 
Directors’ meetings 
 

The number of meetings of directors (including meetings of committees of directors) held during the year 
and the number of meetings attended by each director was as follows: 
 

Director 
Board meetings 

Audit and Risk 
Committee  

Nomination and 
Remuneration 

Committee  

A B A B A B 

Paul Tyler 11 11 2 2 2 2 

Vivian Stewart 11 11 2 2 2 2 

Nigel Jeffries 11 11 2 2 2 2 

Jason Ashton 11 11 2 2 - - 

 
A is the number of meetings the Director was entitled to attend 
B is the number of meetings the Director attended 
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Directors’ shareholdings 
 

The following table sets out each director’s relevant interest in shares and options over unissued shares of 
the Company as at the date of this report:  
 

Director Fully paid ordinary 
shares 

Number 

Share Options 
Number 

Jason Ashton 10,083,685 400,000 

Nigel Jeffries 200,000 300,000 

Vivian Stewart 4,848,174 300,000 

Paul Tyler 1,376,735 300,000 

 
Proceedings on behalf of the Company 
 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring 
proceedings on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a 
party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those 
proceedings. 
 

Non-audit services 
 

During the year, Grant Thornton, the Company’s auditors, performed certain other services in addition to 
their statutory audit duties.  
 
The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor and, in 
accordance with written advice provided by resolution of the Audit and Risk Committee, is satisfied that 
the provision of those non-audit services during the year is compatible with, and did not compromise, the 
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 
 
 All non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the 

Company and have been reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee to ensure they do not impact 
upon the impartiality and objectivity of the auditor; and 

 
 The non-audit services do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as 

set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not involve 
reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision-making capacity 
for the company, acting as an advocate for the Company or jointly sharing risks and rewards. 

 
Details of the amounts paid to the auditors of the Company, Grant Thornton, and its related practices for 
audit and non-audit services provided during the year are set out in Note 9 to the financial statements. 
 
 

Auditor’s independence declaration 
 

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under s307C of the Corporations Act 2001 
is included on page 24 of this financial report and forms part of this Directors’ report. 
 
Remuneration report (audited) 
 
The Directors of BigAir Group Limited (‘the Group’) present the Remuneration Report for non-executive 
directors, executive directors and other key management personnel, prepared in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 
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The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings: 
a. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 
b. Details of remuneration 
c. Service agreements 
d. Share-based remuneration 
e. Other information. 

 
(a) Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 
The principles of the Group’s executive strategy and supporting incentive programs and frameworks 
are: 

 To align rewards to business outcomes that deliver value to shareholders; 
 To drive a high performance culture by setting challenging objectives and rewarding high 

performing individuals; and 
 To ensure remuneration is competitive in the relevant employment market place to support the 

attraction, motivation and retention of executive talent. 
 

BigAir Group Limited has structured a remuneration framework that is market competitive and 
complementary to the reward strategy of the Group. The Board has established a Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee which operates in accordance with its charter as approved by the Board and is 
responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the directors and the executive 
team. 
 
The remuneration structure that has been adopted by the Group consists of the following components: 

 Fixed remuneration being annual salary; and 
 Short term incentives, being employee share schemes and bonuses. 

 
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee assess the appropriateness of the nature and amount of 
remuneration on a periodic basis by reference to recent employment market conditions with the overall 
objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality Board and 
executive team.  
 
The payment of bonuses, share options and other incentive payments are reviewed by the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee annually as part of the review of executive remuneration and a 
recommendation is put to the Board for approval. All bonuses, options and incentives must be linked to 
pre-determined performance criteria. 
 
Short term incentive (STI) 
BigAir Group Limited performance measures involve the use of annual performance objectives, metrics, 
performance appraisals and continuing emphasis on living the company values. The performance 
measures are set annually after consultation with the directors and executives and are specifically tailored 
to the areas where each executive has a level of control. The measures target areas the Board believes 
hold the greatest potential for expansion and profit and cover financial and non-financial measures. 
 
The KPI’s for the Executive Team are summarised as follows: 
 
Performance area: 

 Financial – revenue and net profit after tax targets; and 
 Non-financial - strategic goals set by each individual business unit based on job descriptions. 

 
The STI program incorporates both cash and share-based components for the executive team and other 
employees. The Board may, at its discretion, award bonuses for exceptional performance in relation to 
each person’s pre-agreed KPIs. 
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Consequences of performance on shareholder wealth 
In considering the Group’s performance and benefits for shareholder wealth, the Board have regard to the 
following indices in respect of the current financial year and the previous four financial years: 
 

 
 

30 June 2013

$ 

30 June 2012

$ 

30 June 2011

$ 

30 June 2010 

$ 

30 June 2009

$ 

Revenue 29,911,909 22,906,677 15,521,014 7,581,086 6,464,632 
Net profit/(loss ) 
before tax 

 
6,992,015 

 
6,005,507 

 
2,300,383 

 
2,187,083 

 
1,269,517 

Net profit/(loss) after 
tax 

 
4,751,323 

 
4,225,483 

 
1,535,479 

 
1,531,633 

 
1,013,658 

 

 
 

30 June 
2013 

cents per 
share 

30 June 
2012 

cents per 
share 

30 June 
2011 

cents per 
share 

30 June 
2010 

cents per 
share  

30 June 
2009 

cents per 
share 

Share price at start of 
year 

 

37.5 

 

31.0 

 

17.0 

 

6.0 

 

3.2 

Share price at end of 
year 

 

60.0 

 

37.5 

 

31.0 

 

17.0 

 

6.0 

Interim dividend - - - - - 

Final dividend 1 1 - - - 

Basic earnings per 
share 

 

2.9 

 

2.8 

 

1.2 

 

1.7 

 

1.2 

Diluted earnings per 
share 

 

2.9 

 

2.8 

 

1.2 

 

1.7 

 

1.2 
 
Voting and comments made at the company’s 2012 Annual General Meeting 
BigAir Group Limited received more than 86% of “yes” votes on its remuneration report for the 2012 
financial year. The company did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM on its remuneration report. 
 
(b) Details of remuneration 
 

The following persons acted as directors of BigAir Group Ltd during or since the end of the financial 
year: 
 

Paul Tyler (Chairman, Non-executive director) 
Nigel Jeffries (Non-executive director) 
Vivian Stewart (Non-executive director) 
Jason Ashton (Chief Executive Officer) 
Charles Chapman (Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary) 
 

The highest remunerated KMP of the Group during or since the end of the financial year are: 
 

Jason Ashton (Chief Executive Officer) 
Charles Chapman (Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary) 
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Remuneration packages contain the following key elements: 
 

(a) Short term employment benefits – Salary and fees;  
(b) Performance-related bonuses for key executives, based on achieving the revenue and net profit after 

tax targets set in the Board-approved budget;  
(c) Performance-related bonuses for all staff, based on exceeding the Board-approved budget;  
(d) Equity issued share-based payments – issued as part of the Employee Share Scheme; and 
(e) Post-employment benefits – Superannuation of 9% of gross salary. 
(f) Termination benefits 
 
The directors and KMP received the following amounts as compensation for their services as directors 
and KMP of the Group during the financial year: 
 

2013 
Remuneration 

 Short-term Employment 
Benefits 

Employee 
share issue 
payments 

$ 

Post-
employment 

benefits – 
Superannuation 

$ 

Share-based 
option 

payments 
$ 

 
 
 
 

Total 
 
$ 

Salary & 
Fees         

 
$ 

Cash 
Performance 

Bonus (i) 
$ 

Non-executive 
Directors 

  

Paul Tyler 67,062 - - 6,036 30,228 103,326
Vivian Stewart 35,712 - - 3,214 30,228 69,154
Nigel Jeffries 35,712 - - - 30,228 65,940
Key Management 
Personnel 

    

Jason Ashton 216,685 127,013 2,000 31,248 40,304 417,250
Charles Chapman 167,053 82,325 2,000 22,907 32,243 306,528
Total 522,224 209,338 4,000 63,405 163,231 962,198

 

2012 
Remuneration 

 Short-term Employment 
Benefits 

Employee 
share issue 
payments 

$ 

Post-
employment 

benefits – 
Superannuation 

$ 

Share-based 
option 

payments 
$ 

 
 
 
 

Total 
 
$ 

Salary & 
Fees 

 
$ 

Cash 
Performance 

Bonus (i) 
$ 

Non-executive 
Directors 

  

Paul Tyler 64,174 15,000 - 7,126 21,923 108,223
Vivian Stewart 34,174 10,000 - 3,976 21,923 70,073
Nigel Jeffries 34,174 10,000 - - 21,923 66,097
Key Management 
Personnel 

    

Jason Ashton 209,174 100,823 2,000 27,900 29,230 369,127
Charles Chapman 159,724 36,610 2,000 18,055 23,384 239,773
Total 501,420 172,433 4,000 57,057 118,383 853,293

 

(i) In the current financial year, cash performance bonuses paid to executive directors were as a result 
of the employee reaching certain revenue and net profit after tax targets, as well as participating in 
the Employee Share Scheme. In the prior year, cash performance bonuses were paid to senior 
management on the basis of reaching certain revenue and net profit after tax targets.  
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The relative proportions of remuneration that are linked to performance and those that are fixed are as 
follows: 
 
 Fixed remuneration At risk – STI 
Key management personnel   
Jason Ashton 67%  33% 
Charles Chapman 81% 19% 

 
Since the long-term incentives are provided exclusively by way of options, the percentages disclosed 
also reflect the value of remuneration consisting of options, based on the value of options expensed 
during the year. 
 
(c) Service agreements 
 

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Executive Directors and other key management 
personnel are formalised in a service agreement. The major provisions of the agreements relating to 
remuneration are set out below:  
 
Name Base salary Term of agreement Notice period 
Jason Ashton $220,183 Unspecified Three months 
Charles Chapman $176,400 Unspecified One month 

 
The base salary in the above table differs from the salary and fees in the 2013 remuneration table due to 
an increase in entitlements from 1 January 2013. There are no provisions for termination payments 
provided under these contracts.  
 
Under the BigAir Group Ltd constitution, one-third of the non-executive directors stand for re-election at 
each annual general meeting. The non-executive directors do not have employment contracts with the 
Group, and there is no requirement to provide notice prior to resignation.    
 
(d) Share based remuneration 
 
All options refer to options over ordinary shares of the Company, which are exercisable on a one-for- one 
basis under the terms of the agreements.  
 
Options 
Options granted over unissued shares 
Details of options over ordinary shares in the Company that were granted as remuneration to each key 
management personnel are set out below. Non-executive Directors are entitled to participate in the 
Executive Share Option Plan. 
 

 

Number 
granted 

 
 
 

Grant 
date 

Value 
per 

option at 
grant 

date ($) 

Number 
exercised 

Value 
exercised 

($) 

Number 
lapsed 

Exercise 
price ($) 

First 
exercise 

date 

Last 
exercise 

date 

% 
remunera-
tion which 
is options 

Jason Ashton 600,000 23/12/11 0.15 200,000 56,400 - 0.282 23/11/12 23/12/16 9.66 
Charles 
Chapman 480,000 23/12/11 0.15 160,000 

 
45,120 - 0.282 23/11/12 23/12/16 10.52 

Paul Tyler 450,000 23/12/11 0.15 150,000 42,300 - 0.282 23/11/12 23/12/16 29.26 
Nigel Jeffries 450,000 23/12/11 0.15 150,000 42,300 - 0.282 23/11/12 23/12/16 45.84 
Vivian Stewart 450,000 23/12/11 0.15 150,000 42,300 - 0.282 23/11/12 23/12/16 43.71 
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The options were provided at no cost to the recipients. All options expire on the earlier of their expiry 
date or termination of the individual’s employment. Option values at grant date were determined using 
the Black-Scholes method. 
 
(e) Bonuses included in remuneration 
 
Details of the short-term incentive cash bonuses awarded as remuneration to each key management 
personnel, the percentage of the available bonus that was paid in the financial year, and the percentage 
that was forfeited because the person did not meet the service and performance criteria is set out below. 
No part of the bonus is payable in future years. 
 

 Included in 
remuneration ($) 

% vested in year % forfeited in year 

Key management personnel    
Jason Ashton 127,013 89% 11% 
Charles Chapman 82,325 90% 10% 

 
(f) Other information 
 
Hedging of securities 
In accordance with the Group’s general share trading policy and employee share plan rules, participants 
are prohibited from engaging in hedging arrangements over unvested securities issued pursuant to any 
employee or Director share plan. 
 
End of audited remuneration report. 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s. 298(2) of the Corporations 
Act 2001. 
 

On behalf of the directors 
 
 
 
 

P Tyler 
Chairman 

 

Sydney 
20 August 2013
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

To the Directors of BigAir Group Limited 

 

In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead 

auditor for the audit of BigAir Group Limited for the year ended 30 June 2013, I declare 

that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 

2001 in relation to the audit; and 

b no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 

audit. 

 
 
 

 

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD 
Chartered Accountants 

 
 
 

 

N J Bradley 

Partner - Audit & Assurance 

 
Sydney, 20 August 2013 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Members of BigAir Group Limited 

 

Report on the financial report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of BigAir Group Limited (the 

“Company”), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 

2013, the consolidated statement of profit and loss statement and other comprehensive 

income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash 

flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory information and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated 

entity comprising the Company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time 

to time during the financial year. 

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report 

that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 

Corporations Act 2001 The Directors’ responsibility also includes such internal control as 

the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that 

gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error. The Directors also state, in the notes to the financial report, in accordance with 

Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, the financial 

statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Auditor’s responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards 

require us to comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and 

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is 

free from material misstatement.  
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 

judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

report, whether due to fraud or error.  

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 

Company’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An audit 

also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the 

overall presentation of the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our audit opinion. 

Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the 

Corporations Act 2001.   

Auditor’s opinion 

In our opinion: 

a the financial report of BigAir Group Limited is in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001, including: 

i giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 

June 2013 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

ii complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations 

Regulations 2001; and 

b the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as 

disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.  

Report on the remuneration report  

We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 18 to 23 of the directors’ report 

for the year ended 30 June 2013. The Directors of the Company are responsible for the 

preparation and presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of 

the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration 

report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 
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Auditor’s opinion on the remuneration report 

In our opinion, the remuneration report of BigAir Group Limited for the year ended 30 

June 2013, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

 

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD 
Chartered Accountants 

 
 
 

 

N J Bradley 

Partner - Audit & Assurance 

 

Sydney, 20 August 2013 
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The directors of BigAir Group Ltd declare that: 
 
1. the financial statements and notes of BigAir Group Limited, as set out on pages 29 to 90, are in 

accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and: 
 

a. comply with Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and 
the Corporations Regulations; and 
 

b. give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2013 and the performance for 
the year ended on that date of the consolidated group; 

 
2. the directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 

from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 30 June 
2013; 
 

3. in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe the company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they become due and payable;  
 

4. the consolidated financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
stated in Note 1 to the financial statements. 

 
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P Tyler 
Chairman 
 
Sydney 
20 August 2013 
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  Consolidated  
 

Note 
2013 

$ 
2012 

$ 
 

    
Revenue  4 29,911,909 22,906,677  
Cost of sales 5 (8,864,473) (5,962,419)  
Gross Profit   21,047,436  16,944,258  
    
Other revenue  4 8,570  116,423  
Other income 4 265,443 319  
    
Employee benefits expense 5 (6,660,402) (5,036,501)  
General administration expenses  (2,358,789) (1,640,116)  
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 5 (4,710,977) (3,800,430)  
Occupancy expenses  (556,652) (578,446)  
Finance costs 5 (42,616) -  
    
Profit before income tax  6,992,013 6,005,507  
    
Income tax expense 6 (2,240,690) (1,780,024)  
 
Profit for the year 

  
4,751,323 

 
4,225,483  

    
Other comprehensive income  - -  
 
Total comprehensive income  for the year  

   
4,751,323 

  
4,225,483  

    
Earnings per share    
- Basic (cents per share) 23 2.9 2.8  
- Diluted (cents per share) 23 2.9 2.8  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.  
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  Consolidated  

 Note 
2013 

$ 
2012 

$ 
 

Assets    
Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 29(a) 2,101,074  1,030,996  
Trade and other receivables 10 1,759,833  1,871,532  
Other assets 11 570,300  744,628  
     
Total current assets  4,431,207  3,647,156  
    
Non-current assets    
Other receivables 12 153,564 171,929  
Property, plant and equipment 13 14,925,186 13,547,023  
Deferred tax assets 19 773,491 338,743  
Goodwill 14 15,626,657 16,782,324  
Other intangible assets 15 2,919,337 2,203,890  
    
Total non-current assets  34,398,235 33,043,909  
    
Total assets  38,829,442 36,691,065  
 
Liabilities   

 

Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 16 3,262,085 5,028,227  
Income received in advance 17 44,612  319,157  
Borrowings 18 27,208 14,304  
Current tax liabilities 19 1,613,862 1,224,140  
Provisions 20 533,774  595,513  
Total current liabilities  5,481,541 7,181,341  
    
Non-current liabilities    
Borrowings 18 103,242 213,956  
Provisions 20 129,698 158,374  
Total non-current liabilities  232,940  372,330  
    
Total liabilities  5,714,481 7,553,671  
    
Net assets  33,114,961 29,137,394  
    
Equity    
Share capital 21 27,705,562  26,974,670  
Share option reserve 22 324,997  206,073  
Retained earnings  5,084,402 1,956,651  
    
Total equity  33,114,961 29,137,394  
 
 
 

 
 
   

 

This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.  
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  Consolidated 
  Share capital 

 
$ 

Share option 
reserve 

$ 

Retained earnings 
 

$ 

Total 
 
$ 

 
Balance at 30 June 2011 

  
22,815,330 

 
161,237 

 
(2,430,069) 

 
20,546,498 

 
Total comprehensive 
income for the period 

  
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

4,225,483 

 
 

4,225,483 

Issue of shares  on 
business acquisition 

  
4,085,840 

 
- 

 
- 

 
4,085,840 

      

Issue of shares  to 
employees 

  
73,500 

 
- 

 
- 

 
73,500 

      

Current share-based 
payment options 
  

- 206,073 - 206,073 

Expired share-based 
payment options  

- (161,237) 161,237 - 

      
 
Balance at 30 June 2012 

  
26,974,670 

 
206,073 

 
1,956,651 

 
29,137,394 

 
Total comprehensive 
income for the period  

 
- 

 
- 

 
4,751,323 

 
4,751,323 

 
Issue of shares  on 
business acquisitions 
  

 
 

155,076 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

155,076 

Issue of shares  to 
employees 
  

106,976 - - 106,976 

Issue of share capital 
under share-based 
payment 
  

468,840 (165,220) - 303,620 

Employee share-based 
payment options  

- 284,144 - 284,144 

 
Dividends 
  

 
- 

 
- 

 
(1,623,572) 

 
(1,623,572) 

Balance at 30 June 2013  
 

27,705,562 
 

324,997 
 

5,084,402 
 

33,114,961 
 

 
 

 
 

This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.  
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  Consolidated  

 Note 
2013 

$ 
2012 

$ 
 

Cash flows from operating activities    
Receipts from customers 32,415,256 24,582,396  
Payments to suppliers and employees (21,962,232) (15,197,269)
Interest received 8,570 116,423
Dividends received - -
Finance costs (42,616) -
Income taxes paid (1,691,948) (112,652)
Net cash from operating activities 29(e) 8,727,030 9,388,898
  
Cash flows from investing activities  
Purchase of plant and equipment (4,799,366) (4,156,169)
Purchase of intangible assets (517,375) (1,115,953)
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 33,500 -
Acquisition of business (1,036,445) (1,375,000)
Payment for subsidiaries, net of cash acquired - (4,350,147)
Net cash used in investing activities (6,319,686) (10,997,269)
  
Cash flows from financing activities  
Proceeds from issue of share capital 303,620 -
Repayment of borrowings (97,811) (129,889)
Dividends paid (1,543,075) -
Net cash used in financing activities (1,337,266) (129,889)
  
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,070,078 (1,738,260)
  
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
financial year 1,030,996 2,769,256
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial 
year 29(a) 2,101,074 1,030,996
    
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.  
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1. General information and statement of compliance 

 
BigAir Group Limited (the Company) is the Group’s ultimate parent company. BigAir Group 
Limited is a public company listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (trading under the symbol 
‘BGL’), incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
The consolidated general purpose financial statements of the Group have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards, 
and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).  
 
Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards results in full compliance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB). BigAir Group Limited is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial 
statements.  

 
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 (including comparatives) 
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 19 August 2013 (See Note 36). 
 
Change in accounting estimates 
 
During the financial reporting year, the Group completed a review of its fixed asset lives. After 
reviewing the most recent Taxation Ruling on the effective life of depreciating assets, the Group 
determined that actual lives for a certain asset category was generally longer than the useful lives for 
depreciation purposes and this would be consistent with other similar asset categories. Therefore, 
the Company extended the estimated useful lives of this asset category, effective 1 July 2012. The 
revisions were accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate and as a result, the 
depreciation expense of the Group for the financial reporting year has been reduced by $1,029,644. 
 
Going concern basis of accounting 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. As at 30 June 
2013, current liabilities exceed current assets by $1.05m. However it is noted that current liabilities 
include one-off costs of $1.18m for payments for acquisitions and a current tax provision of $1.6m. 
Management believe that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future. Subsequent to 30 June 2013, the Group plans to enter a 3 year debt facility to 
fund the acquisition of Intelligent IP Communications Pty Ltd (“IIPC”).  

 
  

Registered office and principal place of business  
Level 1 
59 Buckingham Street 
Surry Hills  NSW  2010 
Tel: (02) 9993 1300 
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2.1. New and amended standards adopted by the Group 
 
 AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Presentation of Items of 

Other Comprehensive Income (Applies annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 
2012) 
AASB 2011-9 requires entities to group items presented in Other Comprehensive Income on the 
basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently, and changes the 
title of ‘statement of comprehensive income’ to ‘statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income’.  
 
The adoption of the new and revised Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations has had no 
significant impact on the Group’s accounting policies or the amounts reported during the current 
financial year. The adoption of AASB 2011-9 has resulted in changes to the Group’s presentation of 
its financial statements. 
 

2.2. Accounting standards issued but not yet effective and have not been adopted 
early by the Group 
 
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and 
interpretations to existing standards have been published but are not yet effective, and have not been 
adopted early by the Group. 
 
Management anticipates that all of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Group's 
accounting policies for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. 
Information on new standards, amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to 
the Group’s financial statements are provided below. 
 
Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a 
material impact on the Group's financial statements. 
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2.2. Accounting standards issued but not yet effective and have not been adopted 
early by the Group (cont) 
 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments (effective from 1 January 2015)  
AASB 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets and 
liabilities. These requirements improve and simplify the approach for classification and 
measurement of financial assets compared with the requirements of AASB 139. The main changes 
are: 

a) Financial instruments that are debt instruments will be classified based on (1) the objective 
of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets; and (2) the characteristics 
of the contractual cash flows. 

b) Allows an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on 
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading in other comprehensive 
income (instead of in profit or loss). Dividends in respect of these investments that are a 
return on investment can be recognised in profit or loss and there is no impairment or 
recycling on disposal of the instrument. 

c) Financial assets can be designated and measured at fair value through profit or loss at initial 
recognition if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities, or recognising the gains 
and losses on them, on different bases. 

d) Where the fair value option is used for financial liabilities the change in fair value is to be 
accounted for as follows: 

 The change attributable to changes in credit risk are presented in other 
comprehensive income (OCI); and 

 The remaining change is presented in profit or loss. 
 
Otherwise the following requirements have generally been carried forward unchanged from AASB 
139 into AASB 9: 

 Classification and measurement of financial liabilities; and 
 Derecognition requirements for financial assets and liabilities. 

 
Consequential amendments arising from AASB 9 are contained in AASB 2010-7 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010), AASB 2010-10 Further 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters 
and AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of 
AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures. 
 
The entity has not yet assessed the full impact of AASB 9 as this standard does not apply 
mandatorily before 1 January 2015 and that the IASB is yet to finalise the remaining phases of its 
project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (AASB 139 in 
Australia). 

 
AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (AASB 10) 
AASB 10 establishes a revised control model that applies to all entities. It replaces the consolidation 
requirements in AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and AASB 
Interpretation 112 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. The revised control model broadens the 
situations when an entity is considered to be controlled by another entity and includes additional 
guidance for applying the model to specific situations, including when acting as an agent may give 
control, the impact of potential voting rights and when holding less than a majority voting rights 
may give ‘de facto’ control. This is likely to lead to more entities being consolidated into the group. 
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2.2. Accounting standards issued but not yet effective and have not been adopted 
early by the Group (cont) 
 
When this standard is first adopted for the year ended 30 June 2014, there will be no impact on the 
transactions and balances recognised in the financial statements. 
 
AASB 11 Joint Arrangements (AASB 11) 
AASB 11 replaces AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures and AASB Interpretation 113 Jointly- 
controlled Entities – Non-monetary Contributions by Ventures. AASB 11 uses the principle of 
control in AASB 10 to define joint control, and therefore the determination of whether joint control 
exists may change. In addition, AASB 11 removes the option to account for jointly-controlled 
entities (JCEs) using proportionate consolidation. Instead, accounting for a joint arrangement is 
dependent on the nature of the rights and obligations arising from the arrangement. Joint operations 
that give the venturers a right to the underlying assets and obligations for liabilities are accounted for 
by recognising the share of those assets and liabilities. Joint ventures that give the venturers a right 
to the net assets are accounted for using the equity method. 
 
When this standard is first adopted for the year ended 30 June 2014, there will be no impact on 
transactions and balances recognised in the financial statements because the entity has not entered 
into any joint arrangements. 
 
AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (AASB 12) 
AASB 12 includes all disclosures relating to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, 
associates and structured entities. New disclosures introduced by AASB 12 include disclosures 
about the judgements made by management to determine whether control exists, and to require 
summarised information about joint arrangements, associates and structured entities and subsidiaries 
with non-controlling interests. 
 
As this is a disclosure standard only, there will be no impact on amounts recognised in the financial 
statements. However, additional disclosures will be required for interests in associates and joint 
arrangements, as well as for unconsolidated structured entities. 
 
AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements, AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures (AASB 127, AASB 128) 
As a consequence of issuing AASB 10, AASB 11 and AASB 12, revised versions of AASB 127 and 
AASB 128 have also been issued. AASB 127 now only deals with separate financial statements. 
AASB 128 incorporates the requirements in Interpretation 113 Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-
Monetary Contributions by Venturers, and guidance relating to the equity method for associates and 
joint ventures. 
 
When these revised standards are adopted for the first time for the financial year ending 30 June 
2014, there will be no impact on the financial statements because they introduce no new 
requirements. 
 
AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement (AASB 13) 
AASB 13 establishes a single source of guidance for determining the fair value of assets and 
liabilities. AASB 13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather, provides 
guidance on how to determine fair value when fair value is required or permitted by other Standards. 
AASB 13 also expands the disclosure requirements for all assets or liabilities carried at fair value. 
This includes information about the assumptions made and the qualitative impact of those 
assumptions on the fair value determined. 
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2.2. Accounting standards issued but not yet effective and have not been adopted 
early by the Group (cont) 
 
The entity is yet to undertake a detailed analysis of the differences between the current fair valuation 
methodologies used and those required by AASB 13. However, when this standard is adopted for the 
first time for the year ended 30 June 2014, there will be no impact on the financial statements 
because the revised fair value measurement requirements apply prospectively from 1 January 2013. 

 
AASB 2011-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual Key 
Management Personnel Disclosure Requirements (AASB 124 Amendments) 
The Standard amends AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures to remove the individual key 
management personnel (KMP) disclosures required by Australian specific paragraphs. This 
amendment reflects the AASB’s view that these disclosures are more in the nature of governance 
disclosures that are better dealt within the legislation, rather than by the accounting standards. 
 
In March 2013, the Australian government released Corporations Legislation Amendment 
Regulation 2013 which proposed to insert these disclosures into Corporations Regulations 2001 to 
ensure the disclosure requirements continue to be operative for financial years commencing on or 
after 1 July 2013. The closing date for submissions was 10 May 2013. 
 
When these amendments are first adopted for the year ending 30 June 2014, they are unlikely to 
have any significant impact on the entity. 

 
AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the 
Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards  
AASB 2011-7 makes various consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 12, AASB 127 (August 2011) and AASB 128 (August 2011). 
 
When these amendments are first adopted for the year ending 30 June 2014, they are unlikely to 
have any significant impact on the entity given that they are largely of the editorial nature. 

  
AASB 119 Employee Benefits (AASB 119) 
Main changes include: 

 Elimination of the ‘corridor’ approach for deferring gains/losses for defined benefit plans 
 Actuarial gains/losses on remeasuring the defined benefit plan obligation/asset to be 

recognised in OCI rather than in profit or loss, and cannot be reclassified in subsequent 
periods 

 Subtle amendments to timing for recognition of liabilities for termination benefits 
 Employee benefits ‘expected to be settled’ (as opposed to ‘due to be settled’ under current 

standard) within 12 months after the end of the reporting period are short-term benefits, and 
therefore not discounted when calculating leave liabilities. Annual leave not expected to be 
used within 12 months of end of reporting period will in future be discounted when 
calculating leave liability. 

Consequential amendments were also made to other standards via AASB 2011-10. 
 
The entity does not have any defined benefit plans. Therefore, these amendments will have no 
significant impact on the entity. 
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2.2. Accounting standards issued but not yet effective and have not been adopted 
early by the Group (cont) 

 
AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities 
AASB 2012-3 adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address inconsistencies identified in 
applying some of the offsetting criteria of AASB 132, including clarifying the meaning of “currently 
has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross settlement systems may be considered 
equivalent to net settlement. 
 
When AASB 2012-3 is first adopted for the year ended 30 June 2015, there will be no impact on the 
entity as this standard merely clarifies existing requirements in AASB 132. 
 
AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual 
Improvements 2009–2011 Cycle 
These amendments are a consequence of the annual improvements process, which provides a vehicle 
for making non-urgent but necessary amendments to Standards. The amendments made are largely 
of the nature of clarifications or removals of unintended inconsistencies between Australian 
Accounting Standards (for example, AASB 101 is amended to clarify that related notes to an 
additional statement of financial position are not required in the event of a change in accounting 
policy, reclassification or restatement). 
 
When these amendments are first adopted for the year ended 30 June 2014, they are unlikely to have 
any significant impact on the entity given that they are largely of the nature of clarifications or 
removals of unintended inconsistencies between Australian Accounting Standards. 

 
AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and 
Other Amendments 
AASB 2012-10 clarifies the transition guidance in AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. 
It also provides additional transition relief in AASB 10, AASB 11 Joint Arrangements and AASB 12 
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities by limiting the requirement to provide adjusted comparative 
information only to the immediately preceding comparative period. In addition, for disclosures 
related to unconsolidated structured entities, AASB 2012-10 removes the requirement to present 
comparative information for any periods beginning before the first annual reporting period for which 
AASB 12 is applied. 
 
Furthermore, AASB 2012-10 defers the mandatory effective date of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 12, 
AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements (August 2011) and AASB 128 Investments in Associates 
and Joint Arrangements (August 2011) for not-for-profit entities from 1 January 2013 to 1 January 
2014. 
 
When these amendments are first adopted for the year ended 30 June 2014, they are unlikely to have 
any significant impact on the entity given that they are largely clarification of existing transitional 
provisions. 
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2.2. Accounting standards issued but not yet effective and have not been adopted 
early by the Group (cont) 
 
Standards and interpretations issued by the IASB, but not yet by the AASB 

 
Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets (Amendments to IAS 36) 
These narrow-scope amendments address disclosure of information about the recoverable amount of 
impaired assets if that amount is based on fair value less costs of disposal. 
 
When developing IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, the IASB decided to amend IAS 36 
Impairment of Assets to require disclosures about the recoverable amount of impaired assets. The 
IASB noticed however that some of the amendments made in introducing those requirements 
resulted in the requirement being more broadly applicable than the IASB had intended. These 
amendments to IAS 36 therefore clarify the IASB’s original intention that the scope of those 
disclosures is limited to the recoverable amount of impaired assets that is based on fair value less 
costs of disposal. 
 
When these amendments are adopted for the first time on 1 January 2014, they are unlikely to have 
any significant impact on the entity given that they are largely of the nature of clarification of 
existing requirements. 
 

3. Summary of accounting policies 
 

(a) Overall considerations 
 
The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these consolidated 
financial statements are summarised below. 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on 
historical costs, modified, where applicable by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current 
assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by 
Australian Accounting Standards for each type of asset, liability, income and expense. The 
measurement bases are more fully described in the accounting policies below. 
 
(b) Basis of consolidation 

 
The Group financial statements consolidate those of the parent company and all of its subsidiary 
undertakings drawn up to 30 June 2013. Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the 
power to control the financial and operating policies. The Group obtains and exercises control 
through more than half of the voting rights. All subsidiaries have a reporting date of 30 June. 
 
All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including 
unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group companies. Where unrealised losses on 
intra-group asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for 
impairment from a group perspective.  
 
Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to 
ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group. 
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3. Summary of accounting policies (cont) 
 
(b)  Basis of consolidation (cont) 
 
Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the 
year are recognised from the effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as 
applicable. Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a 
subsidiary's profit or loss and net assets that is not held by the Group. The Group attributes total 
comprehensive income or loss of subsidiaries between the owners of the parent and the non-
controlling interests based on their respective ownership interests. 
 
(c) Business combinations  
 
The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The 
consideration transferred by the Group to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum 
of the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity interests 
issued by the Group, which includes the fair value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent 
consideration arrangement. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred. 
 
The Group recognises identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination 
regardless of whether they have been previously recognised in the acquiree's financial statements 
prior to the acquisition. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are generally measured at their 
acquisition-date fair values. 
 
Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identifiable intangible assets. It is calculated as the 
excess of the sum of a) fair value of consideration transferred, b) the recognised amount of any 
noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and c) acquisition-date fair value of any existing equity 
interest in the acquiree, over the acquisition-date fair values of identifiable net assets. If the fair 
values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum calculated above, the excess amount (i.e. gain on a 
bargain purchase) is recognised in profit or loss immediately. 
 
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period 
in which the combination occurs, the Group will report provisional amounts for the items for which 
the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement 
period, or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about 
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the 
amounts recognised at that date. The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition 
to the date the Group obtain complete information about facts and circumstances that existed as of 
the acquisition date and is subject to a maximum of one year. 

 
(d) Foreign currency translation 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars (AUD), which is also the 
functional currency of the parent company. 
 
Foreign currency transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective Group 
entity, using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
re-measurement of monetary items at year end exchange rates are recognised in profit or loss. 
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3. Summary of accounting policies (cont) 
 
(d)  Foreign currency translation (cont) 
 
Non-monetary items are not retranslated at year-end and are measured at historical cost (translated 
using the exchange rates at the date of the transaction), except for non-monetary items measured at 
fair value which are translated using the exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined. 

  
(e) Segment reporting 
 
Identification of reportable segments  
 
The Group identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used 
by the Board of Directors (chief operating decision makers) in assessing performance and 
determining the allocation of resources.  
 
The Group is managed primarily on the basis of product category and service offerings since the 
diversification of the Group’s operations inherently have notably different risk profiles and 
performance assessment criteria. Operating segments are therefore determined on the same basis.  
Reportable segments disclosed are based on aggregating operating segments where the segments are 
considered to have similar economic characteristics and are also similar with respect to the 
following: 

 the products sold and/or services provided by the segment; 

 the type or class of customer for the product or service; 

 the distribution method; and 

 any external regulatory requirements. 
 
Types of products and services by segment 
 
(i) Fixed wireless for Business 

 
The BigAir fixed wireless broadband network consists of high speed infrastructure in the form of 
wireless basestations which are located on prominent rooftops in CBD areas and also on 
communication towers in regional areas. Each basestation can support hundreds of concurrent 
customers. Office buildings are connected to this network using carrier-grade wireless equipment 
with different types of equipment used for different customer applications. This division targets both 
the direct and wholesale Corporate communications market. 
 
(ii) BigAir Community Broadband 
 
The BigAir Community Broadband division delivers managed high speed infrastructure to 
communities and includes the provision of fast and affordable Internet using Ethernet and high speed 
WiFi infrastructure. The focus of this segment is currently on the tertiary student accommodation 
segment however this is expected to expand to other markets in future years.  
 
The Community Broadband division makes use of high speed backhaul infrastructure delivered 
using the Fixed Wireless division.  
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3. Summary of accounting policies (cont) 
 
(e) Segment reporting (cont) 
 
An internally determined transfer price is set for all intersegment sales. This price is reset quarterly 
and is based on what would be realised in the event the sale was made to an external party at arm’s 
length.  All such transactions are eliminated on consolidation of the Group’s financial statements. 
 
Corporate charges are allocated to reporting segments based on management’s estimate of time 
taken to service the business segment or based on the minimum expense required to service the 
business unit as a stand-alone business. The Board of Directors believes this is representative of 
likely consumption of head office expenditure that should be used in assessing segment performance 
and cost recoveries. 
 
Inter-segment loans payable and receivable are initially recognised at the consideration received net 
of transaction costs. No interest is charged on inter-segment loans. There have been no changes from 
prior periods in the measurement methods used to determine reported segment profit or loss. 

 
(f) Revenue  
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is 
reduced for estimated customer returns, price protection, rebates and other similar allowances. 
 
(i)  Supply of modems & connection of Internet services 
 
Revenue from the sale of modems is recognised when the buyer has assumed the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership. Revenue from the connection of internet services is recognised at the 
contractual rate as labour hours are delivered and direct expenses are incurred.  

 
(ii)  Standard wireless and internet usage 
 
Standard wireless and internet usage charges are billed to subscribers on a monthly basis in advance. 
These charges are recorded as income received in advance on the statement of financial position 
until the end of the month to which they refer, at which time they are recognised as revenue. 

 
(iii)  Excess internet usage 
 
Excess broadband Internet usage and VOIP (voice over internet protocol) charges billed to 
subscribers are recognised as revenue over the period during which the services are provided. 
 
(iv)  Interest revenue  
 
Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the 
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount. 

 
(g) Operating expenses 
 
Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or at the date of 
their origin. Expenditure for warranties is recognised and charged against the associated provision 
when the related revenue is recognised. 
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3. Summary of accounting policies (cont) 
 

(h) Borrowings costs 
 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset are capitalised during the period of time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for 
its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are 
incurred and reported in finance costs (see Note 25). 
 
(i) Goodwill 
 
Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from a business combination that are not 
individually identified and separately recognised. See Note 14 for information on how goodwill is 
initially determined. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Refer to section 
(m) for a description of impairment testing procedures. 
 
(j) Other intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets acquired separately 
 
Intangible assets acquired separately are recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment. Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The 
estimated useful life and amortisation method is reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, 
with any changes in these accounting estimates being accounted for on a prospective basis. See 
section (m) for the policy applying to the impairment of long lived assets.  

 
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination 
 
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from 
goodwill where they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair values can be 
measured reliably. Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business 
combination are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, 
on the same basis as intangible assets acquired separately. 
 
Software 
 
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and 
install the specific software. Subsequent expenditure is expensed as incurred. Costs associated with 
maintaining computer software, i.e. expenditure relating to patches and other minor updates as well 
as their installation, is expensed as incurred. 
 
Customer bases 
 
Customers bases acquired are recognised separately from goodwill where they satisfy the definition 
of an intangible asset and their fair value can be measured reliably.  Such costs are amortised over 
the expected period of economic benefit derived from the customer acquired. Customer bases are 
reviewed for impairment at the end of the financial year. Any impairment charge is recorded 
separately. 
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3. Summary of accounting policies (cont) 
 

(j) Other intangible assets (cont) 
 
Spectrum licences 
 
Spectrum licence assets acquired as part of a business combination are measured at their fair value at 
the date of acquisition less accumulated amortisation and impairment charges. The amortisation of 
spectrum licence assets is calculated on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life of the asset 
based on the current renewal dates of each licence. The renewal date of the 3.4Ghz spectrum 
licenses is 13 December 2015. 

 
Subscriber acquisition costs 
 
Direct subscriber acquisition costs in relation to customer contracts are recognised as an asset where 
it is probable that the future economic benefits arising as a result of the costs incurred will flow to 
the Group. Subscriber acquisition costs recognised as an asset are amortised from the inception of 
the contract over the lesser of the period of the contract and the period during which the future 
economic benefits are expected to be obtained, and reviewed for impairment at the end of the 
financial year (see Note 3(w)).  
 

Subscriber acquisition costs not recognised as an asset are expensed as incurred. 
 

The following useful lives are applied: 
 Software     10 years 
 Customer bases    5 years 
 Subscriber acquisition costs  1-3 years 
 Spectrum asset    9 years 

 
(k) Property, plant and equipment  
 
Plant and equipment, leasehold improvements are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item. 
 
Costs directly attributable to the development of the broadband infrastructure are recorded as assets.  
Costs include antennae, base stations, building-wide cabling and other items related to preparing the 
infrastructure for use.  
 
Maintenance, repairs and minor replacements of the broadband infrastructure are charged to the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income when incurred.  Major replacements, 
improvements and upgrades to the infrastructure are capitalised and depreciated over the remaining 
useful life of the asset. 

 
Depreciation is provided on plant and equipment.  Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis 
so as to write off the net cost of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual 
value.  Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the period of the lease or estimated useful life, 
whichever is the shorter, using the straight line method.  The estimated useful lives, residual values 
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of 
any changes recognised on a prospective basis.  
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3. Summary of accounting policies (cont) 
 

(k)  Property, plant and equipment (cont) 
 

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

 
The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation: 
 

 Office furniture and fittings  4 years 
 Computer and office equipment  3 years 
 Broadband infrastructure    5 - 7 years 
 Information technology   10 years 
 Motor vehicles    5 years 
 Leasehold improvements   10 years 

 
(l) Leased assets 
 
Finance leases 
The economic ownership of a leased asset is transferred to the lessee if the lessee bears substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset. Where the Group is a lessee in this type of 
arrangement, the related asset is recognised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the 
leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the lease payments plus incidental payments, if any. A 
corresponding amount is recognised as a finance lease liability. Leases of land and buildings are 
classified separately and are split into a land and a building element, in accordance with the relative 
fair values of the leasehold interests at the date the asset is recognised initially. 
 
Depreciation methods and useful lives for assets held under finance lease agreements correspond to 
those applied to comparable assets which are legally owned by the Group. The corresponding 
finance lease liability is reduced by lease payments net of finance charges. The interest element of  
lease payments represents a constant proportion of the outstanding capital balance and is charged to 
profit or loss, as finance costs over the period of the lease. 

 
Operating leases 
All other leases are treated as operating leases. Where the Group is a lessee, payments on operating 
lease agreements are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Associated 
costs, such as maintenance and insurance, are expensed as incurred. 

 
(m) Impairment testing of goodwill, other intangible assets and property, plant and               

equipment 
 

For impairment assessment purposes, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
largely independent cash inflows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are tested 
individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill is allocated 
to those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from synergies of the related business 
combination and represent the lowest level within the Group at which management monitors 
goodwill. 
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3. Summary of accounting policies (cont) 
 
(m) Impairment testing of goodwill, other intangible assets and property, plant and               

equipment (cont) 
 
Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated (determined by the Group’s management 
as equivalent to its operating segments) are tested for impairment at least annually. All other 
individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit's 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell 
and value-in-use. To determine the value-in-use, management estimates expected future cash flows 
from each cash-generating unit and determines a suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present 
value of those cash flows. The data used for impairment testing procedures are directly linked to the 
Group's latest approved budget, adjusted as necessary to exclude the effects of future reorganisations 
and asset enhancements. Discount factors are determined individually for each cash-generating unit 
and reflect management’s assessment of respective risk profiles, such as market and asset-specific 
risks factors. 
 
Impairment losses for cash-generating units reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to that cash-generating unit. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the 
other assets in the cash-generating unit. With the exception of goodwill, all assets are subsequently 
reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist. An 
impairment charge is reversed if the cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying 
amount. 
 
(n) Financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument, and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by 
transactions costs, except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss, which are measured 
initially at fair value. Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are 
described below. 

 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire, or when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A 
financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 

 
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets 
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets other than those designated and 
effective as hedging instruments are classified into the following categories upon initial recognition: 

 loans and receivables 
 financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
 held-to-maturity (HTM) investments 
 available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets. 

 
The category determines subsequent measurement and whether any resulting income and expense is 
recognised in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income. 
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3. Summary of accounting policies (cont) 
 
(n) Financial instruments (cont) 
 
All financial assets except for those at FVTPL are subject to review for impairment at least at each 
reporting date to identify whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to determine impairment are applied for each category 
of financial assets, which are described below. 
 
All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented 
within finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade 
receivables which is presented within other expenses. 
 
Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. Discounting is omitted where 
the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group's cash and cash equivalents, trade and most 
other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments. 

 
Individually significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or when 
other objective evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default. Receivables that are not 
considered to be individually impaired are reviewed for impairment in groups, which are determined 
by reference to the industry and region of a counterparty and other shared credit risk characteristics. 
The impairment loss estimate is then based on recent historical counterparty default rates for each 
identified group. 

 
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities 
The Group's financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables and derivative 
financial instruments. 
 
Financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
except for financial liabilities held for trading or designated at FVTPL, that are carried subsequently 
at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. All derivative financial instruments that 
are not designated and effective as hedging instruments are accounted for at FVTPL. 
 
All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument's fair value that are reported 
in profit or loss are included within finance costs or finance income. 

 
(o) Inventories 
 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes all expenses 
directly attributable to the manufacturing process as well as suitable portions of related production 
overheads, based on normal operating capacity. Costs of ordinarily interchangeable items are 
assigned using the first in, first out cost formula. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business less any applicable selling expenses. 
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3. Summary of accounting policies (cont) 
 
(p) Income taxes 
 
Tax expense recognised in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 
 
Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, the 
Australian Taxation Office (ATO) and other fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior 
reporting periods, that are unpaid at the reporting date. Current tax is payable on taxable profit, 
which differs from profit or loss in the financial statements. Calculation of current tax is based on 
tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period. 
 
Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. However, deferred tax is not 
provided on the initial recognition of goodwill, or on the initial recognition of an asset or liability 
unless the related transaction is a business combination or affects tax or accounting profit. Deferred 
tax on temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures is not 
provided if reversal of these temporary differences can be controlled by the Group and it is probable 
that reversal will not occur in the foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to 
apply to their respective period of realisation, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of the reporting period. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that they will be able to be utilised 
against future taxable income, based on the Group’s forecast of future operating results which is 
adjusted for significant non-taxable income and expenses and specific limits to the use of any 
unused tax loss or credit. Deferred tax liabilities are always provided for in full. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Group has a right and intention to set off 
current tax assets and liabilities from the same taxation authority. 
 
Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of tax income or expense 
in profit or loss, except where they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive 
income (such as the revaluation of land) or directly in equity, in which case the related deferred tax 
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively. 

 
Tax consolidation 

 

BigAir Group Limited and its entire wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries are part of a tax 
consolidated group under Australian taxation law. BigAir Group Limited is the head entity in the 
tax-consolidated group.  
 
Tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from temporary 
differences of the members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised in the separate financial 
statements of the members of the tax-consolidated group using the ‘separate taxpayer within group’ 
approach by reference to the carrying amounts in the separate financial statements of each entity and 
the tax values applying under tax consolidation. Current tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax 
assets arising from unused tax losses and relevant tax credits of the members of the tax-consolidated 
group are recognised by the Company (as head entity in the tax-consolidated group). 
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3. Summary of accounting policies (cont) 
 

(p) Income taxes (cont) 
 

Due to the existence of a tax funding arrangement between the entities in the tax-consolidated group, 
amounts are recognised as payable to or receivable by the Company and each member of the Group 
in relation to the tax contribution amounts paid or payable between the parent entity and the other 
members of the tax-consolidated group in accordance with the arrangement. 
 
Further information about the tax funding arrangement is detailed in Note 6. Where the tax 
contribution amount recognised by each member of the tax-consolidated group for a particular 
period is different to the aggregate of the current tax liability or asset and any deferred tax asset 
arising from unused tax losses and tax credits in respect of that period, the difference is recognised 
as a contribution from (or distribution to) equity participants. 
 
(q) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other short-
term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
(r) Equity, reserves and dividend payments 
 
Share capital represents the fair value of shares that have been issued. Any transaction costs 
associated with the issuing of shares are deducted from share capital, net of any related income tax 
benefits. 
 
Other components of equity include the following: 

 Share option reserve – comprises of equity-settled share-based remuneration plans for the 
Group’s employees (see Note 3(t)) 

 Retained earnings include all current and prior period retained profits. 
 
Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in 'other liabilities' when the 
dividends have been approved in a general meeting prior to the reporting date. All transactions with 
owners of the parent are recorded separately within equity. 
 
(s) Post-employment benefits and short-term employee benefits  
 
Short-term employee benefits 
Short-term employee benefits, including annual leave entitlement, are current liabilities included in 
employee benefits, measured at the undiscounted amount that the Group expects to pay as a result 
of the unused entitlement.  

 
Defined contribution plans 
The Group pays fixed contributions into independent entities in relation to several state plans and 
insurance for individual employees. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay 
contributions in addition to its fixed contributions, which are recognised as an expense in the period 
that relevant employee services are received.  
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3. Summary of accounting policies (cont) 
 

(t) Share-based employee remuneration 
 
The Group operates equity-settled share-based remuneration plans for its employees. None of the 
Group's plans feature any options for a cash settlement.  
 
All goods and services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based payment are measured 
at their fair values. Where employees are rewarded using share-based payments, the fair values of 
employees' services are determined indirectly by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments 
granted. This fair value is appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of non-market vesting 
conditions (for example profitability and sales growth targets and performance conditions). 
 
All share-based remuneration is ultimately recognised as an expense in profit or loss with a 
corresponding credit to share option reserve. If vesting periods or other vesting conditions apply, the 
expense is allocated over the vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the number of 
share options expected to vest.  
 
Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are 
expected to become exercisable. Estimates are subsequently revised if there is any indication that the 
number of share options expected to vest differs from previous estimates. Any cumulative 
adjustment prior to vesting is recognised in the current period. No adjustment is made to any expense 
recognised in prior periods if share options ultimately exercised are different to that estimated on 
vesting. 
 
Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction 
costs up are allocated to share capital. 
 
(u) Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
 
Provisions for product warranties, legal disputes, onerous contracts or other claims are recognised 
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required from the Group and amounts can 
be estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain. 
 
Restructuring provisions are recognised only if a detailed formal plan for the restructuring has been 
developed and implemented, or management has at least announced the plan's main features to those 
affected by it. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. 

 
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on 
the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties 
associated with the present obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood 
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a 
whole. Provisions are discounted to their present values, where the time value of money is material. 
 
Any reimbursement that the Group can be virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect to 
the obligation is recognised as a separate asset. However, this asset may not exceed the amount of the 
related provision. 
 
All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 
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3. Summary of accounting policies (cont) 
 

(u) Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets (cont) 
 
In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resources as a result of present obligations is 
considered improbable or remote, no liability is recognised, unless it was assumed in the course of a 
business combination (See Note 3(c)). In a business combination, contingent liabilities are recognised 
on the acquisition date when there is a present obligation that arises from past events and the fair value 
can be measured reliably, even if the outflow of economic resources is not probable. They are 
subsequently measured at the higher amount of a comparable provision as described above and the 
amount recognised on the acquisition date, less any amortisation. 

 
Possible inflows of economic benefits to the Group that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an 
asset are considered contingent assets. 
 
(v) Goods and services tax 
 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of 
GST incurred is not recoverable from the Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and 
payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST. Cash flows are presented 
in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST components of investing and 
financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 
 
(w) Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies 
 

When preparing the financial statements, management undertakes a number of judgements, estimates 
and assumptions about the recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
 
Significant management judgement 
The following are significant management judgements in applying the accounting policies of the 
Group that have the most significant effect on the financial statements. 
 
Recognition of deferred tax assets 
 
The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognised is based on an assessment of the probability 
of the Group’s future taxable income against which the deferred tax assets can be utilised. In addition, 
significant judgement is required in assessing the impact of any legal or economic limits or 
uncertainties in various tax jurisdictions. 
 
Estimation uncertainty 
Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition 
and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be 
substantially different. 

 
Subscriber acquisition costs 
 
Direct subscriber acquisition costs in relation to customer contracts are recognised as an asset by the 
Group, as the future economic benefits arising as a result of incurring these costs are expected to flow 
to the Group. Subscriber acquisition costs are those costs that are directly attributable to establishing 
specific contracts and would not have been incurred had those contracts not been entered into.   
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3. Summary of accounting policies (cont) 
 

(w) Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies (cont) 
 
Subscriber acquisition costs are amortised from the date of initial recognition over the period during 
which the future economic benefits are expected to be obtained. This period is the term of the 
customer contract, as customers are not expected to terminate contracts prior to the end of their 
contracted term. No adjustment to recorded costs or amortisation was required for the financial year. 

 
Useful lives of depreciable assets 
 

As described in Note 3(k), the Group reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and 
equipment at the end of each financial year. The Group adjusted the remaining effective useful life of 
its assets to better reflect their actual usage and future economic benefit.  

 
 Utilisation of tax losses 

 

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiary elected to join as members of a tax 
consolidated group under Australian taxation law as of 1 July 2007. Each entity in the tax 
consolidated group contributed tax losses to the Group. The Group will use the losses by the available 
fraction of each bundle of losses transferred. The Group has assessed the ability to utilise the losses 
against future taxable income. The Group has generated taxable income in the current financial year 
and the losses will be used over the next year.  
 

 Fair valuation of assets 
 
Assets acquired are measured at fair value on the acquisition date of the total consideration 
transferred. The Group has purchased capital assets and intangible assets as part of their normal 
course of operations. The fair value measurement of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets is described in Note 3(k) and 3(l). The Group assesses impairment at each reporting date by 
evaluating conditions specific to the group that may lead to impairment of assets. Where an 
impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Value-in-use calculations 
performed in assessing recoverable amounts incorporate a number of key estimates. Refer to Note 13, 
14 and 15 in regards to impairment of assets for the consolidated group. 
 
Inventories 
 
Management estimates the net realisable values of inventories, taking into account the most reliable 
evidence available at each reporting date. The future realisation of these inventories may be affected 
by future technology or other market-driven changes that may reduce future selling prices. 
 
Business combinations 
 
Management uses valuation techniques in determining the fair values of the various elements of a 
business combination (see Note 3(c)). Particularly, the fair value of contingent consideration is 
dependent on the outcome of many variables that affect future profitability. 
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3. Summary of accounting policies (cont) 
 

(w) Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies (cont) 
 
Impairment 
 
In assessing impairment, management estimates the recoverable amount of each asset or 
cashgenerating unit based on expected future cash flows and uses an interest rate to discount them. 
Estimation uncertainty relates to assumptions about future operating results and the determination of a 
suitable discount rate. 
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4.     Revenue 
 

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year from continuing operations is as follows: 
 

  Consolidated 

  2013 
$ 

2012 
$ 

 Sales revenue:  
 Fixed wireless  21,868,708 17,439,167
 Community broadband 8,043,201  5,467,510 
  29,911,909 22,906,677
 Other revenue:  
    Interest from bank deposits 8,570 116,423
   
 Total revenue 29,920,479 23,023,100
   
 Other income: 265,443 319
 
 

5. Profit for the year before tax 
 

Profit for the year includes the following expenses: 
   Consolidated  

  Note 
2013 

$ 
2012 

$  
      
 Cost of sales (i) 8,864,473 5,962,419  

    
 Depreciation of non-current assets 13 3,357,013  2,886,609 
 Amortisation of subscriber acquisition costs 15 480,096  442,188 
 Amortisation of customer bases   15 766,068 471,633
 Amortisation of Spectrum asset 15 107,800 -
   4,710,977 3,800,430
    

 Impairment of trade receivables (ii) 10 49,803 37,213
    
 Impairment of consumables  14,423 869

 
 

 
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 

 
 5,747  - 

    
 Deal and restructure costs  594,941 61,447
    
 Operating lease rental expenses:   
   Minimum lease payments  402,157 423,561

  
Finance costs 

  
42,616 

 
-

 

  
Employee benefit expense: 

  

    
  Defined contribution plan  

 
463,291 345,940

   Share-based payments  106,976  73,500 
   Other employee benefits  6,090,136  4,617,061 
   6,660,402 5,036,501
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5.      Profit for the year before tax (cont) 
 

(i) The cost of sales includes costs attributable to the provision of services that are sold by the 
Group. These costs include both fixed and variable costs.  

(ii) Impairment of trade receivables is included in general administration expenses and is net of 
reversals of prior year impairment losses reversed.  

 
6. Income taxes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

  Consolidated 

  
2013 

$ 
2012 

$ 
 Tax expense comprises: 
    
 Current tax expense  in respect of the current year:                    2,240,690 1,780,024
   

The prima facie income tax income on pre-tax accounting profit from operations reconciles to the 
income tax expense in the financial statements as follows: 

    
 Profit from operations 6,992,013 6,005,507
    
 Income tax expense calculated at 30% 2,097,604 1,801,652
   
 Permanent differences  
 Non-deductible amortisation of customer base 119,660 90,283
 Share based payment 97,536 70,072
 Other  (60,205) 5,643
 Timing differences (13,905) (187,626)
 Current income tax expense  2,240,690 1,780,024

 
The tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax rate of 30% payable by Australian 
corporate entities on taxable profits under Australian tax law. There has been no change in the 
corporate tax rate when compared with the previous reporting period. 

There was no income tax recognised directly in equity during the period.   
 

Deferred tax balances 
 

Deferred tax assets arise from the following: 
 

  Tax losses 848,412 -  
       Temporary differences (74,921) 338,743  
     
  773,491 338,743  
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6. Income taxes (cont)   
 

Deferred taxes arising from temporary differences and unused tax losses can be summarised as 
follows: 
  Consolidated 

2013 

 
Opening 
balance  

$ 

Recognised in 
business 

combination 
$

Recognised in 
profit and loss 

$ 

Closing 
balance 

$
      
Non-current assets      
Capitalised subscriber  
acquisition costs 

  
(482,291)

 
- 

 
(11,184) 

 
(493,475) 

Acquired customer bases  - (468,274) 94,322 (373,952) 
Current liabilities      
Provisions  265,799 14,175 (42,593) 237,381 
Accruals/income in advance  509,325 - 27,344 536,669 
Blackhole expenditure  45,910 - (27,454) 18,456 
Tax losses – revenue  - 1,032,014 (183,602) 848,412 
      
  338,743 577,915 (143,167) 773,491 
 
Presented in the statement of financial position as follows:  
Deferred tax asset 1,147,443 
Deferred tax liability (373,952) 
 773,491 

 
  Consolidated 

2012 

 
Opening 
balance  

$ 

Recognised in 
business 

combination 
$

Recognised in 
profit and loss 

$ 

Closing 
balance 

$
      
Non-current assets      
Capitalised subscriber  
acquisition costs 

  
(92,116) 

 
- 

 
(390,175) 

 
(482,291) 

Current liabilities      
Provisions  118,312 50,427 97,060 265,799 
Accruals/income in advance  506,442 12,000 (9,117) 509,325 
Blackhole expenditure  73,858 - (27,948) 45,910 
Tax losses – revenue  357,666 - (357,666) - 
      
  964,162 62,427 (687,846) 338,743 
 
Presented in the statement of financial position as follows:  
Deferred tax asset 821,034 
Deferred tax liability (482,291) 
 338,743 
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6. Income taxes (cont) 
 
The utilisation of the deferred tax asset is dependent on future taxable profits in excess of the profits 
arising from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences. The entity has recorded a profit 
in the current period in the tax jurisdiction to which the deferred tax asset relates. Financial analysis 
by the Group supports the recognition of this asset.  
 
Tax consolidation 

 

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax 
consolidation legislation. As a consequence, these entities are taxed as a single entity and the 
deferred tax assets and liabilities of these entities are set off in the consolidated financial statements. 
The head entity within the tax consolidated group is BigAir Group Ltd. The members of the tax 
consolidated group are identified at Note 26.    

 
Nature of tax funding arrangements and tax sharing agreements 
 
Entities within the tax-consolidated group have entered into a tax funding arrangement and a tax 
sharing agreement with the head entity. Under the terms of the tax funding arrangement, BigAir 
Group Ltd and each of the entities in the tax-consolidated group has agreed to pay a tax equivalent 
payment to or from the head entity, based on the current tax liability or current tax asset of the 
entity. Such amounts are reflected in amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the tax 
consolidated group. 
 
The tax sharing agreement entered into between members of the tax-consolidated group provides for 
the determination of the allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the head 
entity default on its tax payment obligations or if an entity should leave the tax-consolidated group. 
The effect of the tax sharing agreement is that each member’s liability for tax payable by the tax 
consolidated group is limited to the amount payable to the head entity under the tax funding 
arrangement. 
 

7. Key management personnel compensation  
 

Refer to the Remuneration Report contained in the Directors’ Report for details of the remuneration 
paid or payable to each member of the Group’s key management personnel for the year ended 30 
June 2013. The total of remuneration paid to key management personnel of the Group is set out 
below: 
 
  Consolidated 

   2013 
 $ 

 2012 
 $ 

    
Short term employment benefits  731,562 673,853 
Post-employment benefits  63,405    57,057 
Employee share issues  4,000 4,000 
Options  163,231 118,383 

   
962,198 

 
853,292 
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7.     Key management personnel compensation (cont) 
 
Contracts for services of key management personnel 
 
Under the Company constitution, one-third of the non-executive directors stand for re-election at each 
annual general meeting. The executives have in place standard contracts with the Company which 
allow either party to give three months’ notice to terminate the contract of employment.  No 
termination payments have been provided for under these contracts.  
 

8. Share-based payments 
 
The Group has two ownership-based remuneration plans for directors and employees. The following 
sets out the rules for the employees and director and executives schemes. These shares have a trading 
lock of three years.  

 
a) Employees’ Share Plan 
 
On 28 December 2012, there were 184,441 (23 December 2011: 260,642) shares issued to employees 
under the Employee Share Plan. 
 
b) Director and Executives Share Option Plan 
 
The board may, at its discretion and in accordance with the Company’s constitution, the Corporations 
Act 2001 and the ASX Listing Rules and subject to shareholder approval, issue options to directors 
and executives to subscribe for shares on terms and conditions as determined by the board from time 
to time, based upon performance.  

 
Directors and executives have been issued options to subscribe for ordinary shares in the capital of the 
Company.  Those options have certain conditions including staged vesting rights and continued 
involvement of directors and executives with the Company for specified periods of time.  
 
The options carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights. 
 
Each option will expire on the date specified on the Option Certificate, being, a date at the discretion 
of the Board but, in any event, not more than 5 years from the date of issue of the option. Options 
automatically lapse if not exercised before expiry. The exercise price for per option will be the volume 
weighted average price of the shares over the 30 days immediately prior to the date of issue of the 
options. There are no loans applicable to the granting of these options. None of the directors and 
executives have received options under the Executive Share Option Plan previously. 

           
 

Director and executives options 
2013 
No. 

  

Balance at beginning of the financial year 4,230,000 
Granted during the financial year - 
Exercised during the financial year (1,076,666) 
Cancelled or expired during the financial year - 
  
Balance at end of the financial year 3,153,334 
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8. Share-based payments (cont) 
 
Options Valuation Model – Key Assumptions 
 

(i) options are granted for no consideration; 
(ii) expected price volatility of the Company is estimated by using other comparable companies 

listed on ASX which ranges from 30% to 70%; 
(iii) expected dividend yield: 0%; 
(iv) risk-free interest rate is based on relevant indicative yield applicable to Commonwealth 

Treasury fixed coupon bond of the similar maturing dates; and 
 (v) other details of the inputs are shown in the table below. 
 
Inputs into the model  Directors and Executives 
   
Grant date share price  $0.30 
Exercise price  $0.282 
Volatility  52.69% 
Option life from grant date  5 years 
Dividend yield  0 
Risk-free interest rate  3.62% 

 
9. Remuneration of the auditor   
  Consolidated  
  2013 

$
2012 

$
 

 Audit and review of financial statements:  
  Auditors of BigAir Group Ltd – Grant Thornton 112,573 115,960  
    
 Other services   
      Auditors of BigAir Group Ltd – Grant Thornton – 

Taxation compliance 
 

38,800 
 

22,050
 

  
Total auditor’s remuneration 

 
151,373 

 
138,010

 

 
10. Trade and other receivables  
  Consolidated  

  
2013 

$ 
2012 

$ 
 

      
 Trade receivables (i) 1,683,969 1,985,645
 Allowance for doubtful debts (114,556) (126,827)
  1,569,413 1,858,818
 Intercompany receivables 152,318 -
 Sundry debtors 38,102  12,714 
   
  1,759,833  1,871,532 

 
(i) The average credit period for corporate clients on rendering of services is 22 days (2012: 24 days). No 

interest is charged on outstanding amounts. An allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable 
trade receivable amounts arising from the past sale of goods and rendering of services, determined by 
reference to past default experience.   
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10. Trade and other receivables (cont) 
 
Trade receivables are provided for based on estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods 
and rendering of services, determined by reference to past default experience.  
 
The following customers each represent more than 5% of the total balance of trade receivables:  
 
  Consolidated 

   2013 
 $ 

 2012 
 $ 

   
Optus (Toll Services)  131,323 116,479
Pacnet Internet Pty Ltd   131,277 -
Viocorp International Pty Ltd  83,959 -
Vanco Australasia Pty Ltd  - 142,973
AAPT Limited  - 93,200
Optus Business  - 92,693

  
346,559 445,345

 
Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of  $269,406 
(2012: $52,739) which are past due at the reporting date for which the Group has not provided as 
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered 
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. The average age of these 
receivables is 134 days (2012: 154 days). 

 
Ageing of past due but not impaired 

  Consolidated 

  2013 
$ 

2012 
$

   
60 - 90 days 

 
159,591  

 
20,563 

 90 + days 109,815  32,176 
   

269,406  
 

52,739 
 

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts 
  Consolidated

  2013 
$ 

2012 
$ 

   
 Balance at the beginning of the year (126,827) (86,061)
 Allowance for doubtful debts acquired - (20,000)
 Impairment losses recognised on receivables (i) (112,591) (41,106)
 Amounts written off as uncollectable   62,074  14,690 
 Amounts recovered during the year   - 1,757
 Impairment losses reversed (i) 62,788  3,893 
  

Balance at the end of the year 
 

(114,556) 
 

(126,827)
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10. Trade and other receivables (cont) 
 

(i)  Net amount of trade receivables impaired for 2013 is $49,803 (2012: $37,213).  
 
In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit 
quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The 
concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated. Accordingly, 
the directors believe that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for 
doubtful debts.  

 
Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually impaired trade receivables with a balance 
of $49,171 (2012: $49,721) which have been placed under liquidation. The impairment recognised 
represents the difference between the carrying amount of these trade receivables and the present value 
of the expected liquidation proceeds. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.  
 
Ageing of impaired trade receivables 

  Consolidated

  2013 
$ 

2012 
$

 Current 3,472 - 
 30-60 days - - 
 60- 90 days 3,143 1,473 
 Over 90 days 107,941 125,354 
   

114,556 
 

126,827 
 
 
11. Other assets   
   

 Prepayments 420,190 602,814 
 Consumables 150,110 141,814 
  

 
 

570,300 744,628 

 
 
12. Other receivables 

  
 
Rental deposits 

 
153,564 171,929 

 

These rental deposits relate to bonds on the office premises and security deposits for the lease of roof 
space.  
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13. Property, plant and equipment 
 
Details of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and their carrying amount are as follows: 
 

 Consolidated 
 

Broadband 
infrastructure  

at cost 
$ 

Office furniture 
and fittings, 

leasehold fittings 
and equipment at 

cost 
$ 

Total 
 
$ 

Gross carrying amount    
Balance at 30 June 2011 10,852,987 2,018,857 12,871,844 
Additions 4,066,482 134,202 4,200,684 
Acquisitions through business combinations 4,079,502 401,409 4,480,911 
Disposals (418) - (418) 
Balance at 30 June 2012 18,998,553 2,554,468 21,553,021 
Additions 4,707,419 91,947 4,799,366 
Disposals - (242,141) (242,141) 
 
Cost at 30 June 2013 

 
23,705,972 

 
2,404,274 

 
26,110,246 

 
Accumulated depreciation 

   

Balance at 30 June 2011 ( 4,672,813) (446,576) (5,119,389) 
Depreciation expense (2,723,642) (162,967) (2,886,609) 
Balance at 30 June 2012 (7,396,455) (609,543) (8,005,998) 
Depreciation expense (3,089,164) (267,849) (3,357,013) 
Disposals - 177,951 177,951 
 
Balance at 30 June 2013 

 
(10,485,619) 

 
(699,441) 

 
(11,185,060) 

 
Net book value 

   

As at 30 June 2012 11,602,098  1,944,925  13,547,023 

 
As at 30 June 2013 13,220,353  1,704,833 14,925,186 

 

During the period, the Group carried out a review of the recoverable amount of its plant and 
equipment. There was no evidence of impairment loss arising from this review. There was no 
depreciation during the period that was capitalised as part of the cost of other assets.  
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14. Goodwill 
  

The main changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill result from the income tax adjustment on the 
2012 income tax return. The net carrying amount of goodwill can be analysed as follows: 

 
 Consolidated 

 Goodwill 
$ 

Gross carrying amount  
Balance at 30 June 2011 13,898,428

Acquired through business combination 5,470,541

Balance at 30 June 2012 19,368,969

Net exchange difference (1,155,667)
 
Balance at 30 June 2013 

 
18,213,302

  
Accumulated impairment  
Balance at 30 June 2011 (2,586,645)
Impairment loss recognised  -
Balance at 30 June 2012 (2,586,645)
Impairment loss recognised  -
 
Balance at 30 June 2013 

 
(2,586,645)

 
Net book value 

 

As at 30 June 2012 16,782,324

 
As at 30 June 2013 

 
15,626,657

 
For the purpose of annual impairment testing goodwill is allocated to the following cash-generating 
units (CGU), which are the units expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combinations 
in which the goodwill arises. 

 
  Consolidated  

  
2013 

$ 
2012 

$
 

  
  
Allegro Networks Pty Ltd and RadioCorp Pty Ltd 2,810,048 3,692,206
Link Innovations Pty Ltd 1,504,826 1,778,335
Clever Communications Australia Ltd 7,059,372 7,059,372
AccessPlus Pty Ltd 4,252,411 4,252,411
 
Goodwill  

 
15,626,657 

 
16,782,324
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14.  Goodwill (cont) 
 

The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units were determined based on value-in-use 
calculations, covering a detailed five-year forecast and followed by an extrapolation of expected 
cash flows for the units' remaining useful lives using the growth rates stated below. The post-tax 
discount rates applied to the discounted cash flows were 13.43% (2012: 12.94%), for all CGUs.  
Management consider that as all CGU’s operate in the Telecommunications Industry in Australia 
and provide equivalent products and services in the same markets, that the risk specific to each unit 
are comparable and therefore a discount rate of 13.43% is applicable to all CGUs. The growth rates 
reflect the long-term average growth rates for the service lines and industries of the cash-generating 
units.  
 
Management believes that no reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions would 
cause the carrying value of the unit to exceed its recoverable amount. 
 
Impairment testing of goodwill 
 
The key assumptions used in the value in use calculations for the various significant cash-
generating units are as follows: 
 

  
  Consolidated  
  2013 2012  

Key assumptions (i)      
     
Revenue growth  9% pa 9% pa  
Expense growth  4% pa 4% pa  

 
 
(i) Assumptions have been based on historical observed trends and expected future events. 
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15. Other intangible assets  
 

Details of the Group’s other intangible assets and their carrying amounts are as follows: 
 
 Consolidated  

 Subscriber 
acquisition 

costs 
$

Customer  
bases 

 
$

Spectrum 
asset 

 
 $ 

Total 
 

 
$ 

Gross carrying amount   
Balance at 30 June 2011 1,344,486 3,806,257 - 5,150,743

Additions - - 376,232 376,232
Additions from internal 
capitalisation  

 
527,333 -

 
- 527,333

Balance at 30 June 2012 1,871,819 3,806,257 376,232 6,054,308

Additions  - 1,572,025 - 1,572,025
Additions from internal 
capitalisation 

 
517,375 -

 
- 517,375

 
Balance at 30 June 2013 

 
2,389,194 5,378,282

 
376,232 

 
8,143,708

   
Accumulated amortisation    
Balance at 30 June 2011 (1,079,967) (1,856,630) - (2,936,597)
Amortisation expense for the year  (442,188) (453,775) (17,858) (913,821)
Balance at 30 June 2012 (1,522,155) (2,310,405) (17,858) (3,850,418)
Acquisition adjustment - (11,114) (8,875) (19,989)
Amortisation expense for the year  (480,096) (766,068) (107,800) (1,353,964)
 
Balance at 30 June 2013 (2,002,251) (3,087,587)

 
(134,533) (5,224,371)

 
Net book value 

  

As at 30 June 2012 349,664 1,495,852 358,374 2,203,890

 
As at 30 June 2013 

 
386,943

 
2,290,695

 
241,699 

 
2,919,337

 
 

(i) The following useful lives are used in the calculation of amortisation: 
  
•  Subscriber acquisition costs  1-3 years 
•  Customer bases    5 years 
•  Spectrum asset     9 years 

 
Significant intangible assets 
 
Subscriber acquisition costs 
Subscriber acquisition costs in relation to customer contracts are recognised as an asset where it is 
probable that the future economic benefits arising as a result of the costs incurred will flow to the 
Group. Subscriber acquisition costs are amortised over the lesser of the period of the contract (1-3 
years) and the period during which the future economic benefits are expected to be obtained. 
Customers are not expected to terminate contracts prior to the end of their contracted term. 
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15.  Other intangible assets (cont) 
 
Customer bases 
There are seven distinguishable intangible assets in the form of customer bases identified and 
accounted for.  WHome customer base was acquired by the Group from Skynet Global on 30 June 
2006.  The Wizz customer base was acquired from Wizz Pty Ltd on 1 April 2010. The Unistar 
customer base was acquired from Star-Tech Communications on 1 July 2010. The Clever customer 
base was acquired from Clever Communications Australia Ltd on 23 December 2010. The AccessPlus 
customer base was acquired from AccessPlus Pty Ltd on 6 January 2011. The Allegro Networks and 
RadioCorp customer base was acquired from Allegro Communications on 31 May 2012. The Link 
Innovations customer base was acquired from Link Innovations on 29 June 2012. All customer bases 
will be fully amortised on a straight line method in a manner that allocates the cost of acquisition over 
the expected benefit period.  
 
Key assumptions 

           The key assumptions used to assess amortisation rates are as follows: 
 
Customer bases 
 each customer base has been assessed as an individual intangible asset; 
 the customers will churn over the next five years; 
 each customer has been allocated a life cycle; 
 the actual customer base is reviewed each reporting period against the original amortisation 

model and churned customers are removed from the amortisation model; and 
 the expected life of a customer is reviewed annually and if required the amortisation rate is 

amended. 
 
Spectrum licence asset 
The spectrum licence asset consists of three licenses in the 3.4 GHz frequency range. Each of the 
licenses come up for renewal on 13 December 2015. These spectrum licence assets acquired as part of 
the Radio Corp Pty Ltd acquisition are measured at their fair value at the date of acquisition less 
accumulated amortisation and impairment charges. The amortisation of spectrum licence assets is 
calculated on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life of the asset based on the current 
renewal dates of each licence.   

 
During the period, the Group carried out a review of the recoverable amount of its other intangible 
assets. There was no evidence of impairment loss arising from this review. 
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16. Trade and other payables 
  Consolidated 

  2013 
$ 

2012 
$

 Trade and other payables - Current   
 Trade payables (i) 687,481 1,599,660
 Sundry creditors 338,144 467,045
 Accruals 974,523 652,726
 Goods and services tax (GST) payable 86,222 153,277
 Amount due on business purchase (ii) 1,175,715 2,155,519
   

3,262,085 
 

5,028,227
 
 

(i) The average credit period on suppliers is 28 days (2012: 35 days).  No interest is charged on 
the trade payables.  The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that 
all payables are paid within a reasonable timeframe or where there are disputes within the 
timeframe agreed by the disputing parties. 

(ii) The amount above represents a deferred cash payment of $700,000 in relation to the Link 
Innovations acquisition and a revenue earn out for Allegro Communications of $475,715.   

 
 
17. Income received in advance  

 Consolidated 

 2013 
$ 

2012 
$

 
Income received in advance from customers 

 
44,612 

 
319,157

 Refer to Note 3(f) (ii) for details. 
 
 
18. Borrowings 

 Consolidated 

 2013 
$ 

2012 
$

Current 
Lease liability 

 
27,208 14,304

  

Non-Current 
Lease liability 

 
103,242 

 
213,956

 
 
19. Tax 

 Consolidated 

 
Current 

2013 
$ 

2012 
$ 

 
Current tax liability 

 
1,613,862 

 
1,224,140
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19. Tax (cont) 
 

 Consolidated

 
Non-Current 

2013 
$ 

2012 
$ 

 
Deferred tax asset 

 
773,491 

 
338,743

  

 
20. Provisions 

  

 Current 
Employee 
benefits 

$ 

Non-Current 
Employee 
benefits 

$ 
 

Carrying amount 1 July 2012 595,513 158,374
Additional provisions 480,572 147,648
Amount utilised (427,307) (11,670)
Reversed (115,004) (164,654)
 
Carrying amount 30 June 2013 

 
533,774 

 
129,698

  

 
The Group expects all accrued annual leave entitlements to be taken within the next 12 months. 

 
A provision has been recognised for employee entitlements relating to long service leave. In 
calculating the present value of future cash flows in respect of the long service leave, the probability 
of long service leave being taken is based on historical data. The measurement and recognition 
criterion relating to employee benefits has been included in Note 3 of this report.  

 
 

21. Share capital 
  Consolidated  

  2013  2012 
  No. $  No. $ 
Fully paid ordinary shares        
Balance at beginning of financial  
year 

 
162,357,261 26,974,670  150,772,944 22,815,330 

Issue of shares for business 
acquisitions 

 
352,687 155,076  11,323,675 4,085,840 

Issue of shares from options 
exercised 

 
1,076,666 468,840  - - 

Issue of shares to employees  184,441 106,976  260,642 73,500 
       
Balance at end of financial year  163,971,055 27,705,562  162,357,261 26,974,670 
 
Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends. 
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21. Share capital (cont) 
 

The Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital and issued shares do not have a 
par value.  
 
Share options granted under the Director and Executives Option Scheme are contained in Note 8. 

 
Shares were issued to employees under the Employee Share Plan. Share issue amounts were based 
on the duration of employment with the Group. See Note 8 for details. Shares were issued as part of 
the acquisition of the assets and customer base of Star-Tech Communications.  None of the parent’s 
shares are held by any company in the Group. 
 
Capital Management 
 
Management controls the capital of the Group in order to maintain a good debt to equity ratio, 
provide the shareholders with adequate returns and ensure that the Group can fund its operations and 
continue as a going concern. 
 
The Group’s debt and capital includes ordinary share capital and financial liabilities, supported by 
financial assets. There are no externally imposed capital requirements. 

Management effectively manages the Group’s capital by assessing the Group’s financial risks and 
adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market.  These 
responses include the management of debt levels, distributions to shareholders and share issues. 
 
There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the 
Group since the prior year.   
 

22. Share option reserve 
 

  Consolidated 

 Employee equity-settled benefits 2013 
$ 

2012 
$

    
 Balance at the beginning of the financial year 206,073 161,237
 Transfer from reserves to retained earnings - (161,237)
 Transfer to share capital for options exercised (165,220) -
 Options expense 284,144 206,073
  

Balance at the end of the financial year 
 

324,997 
 

206,073
 

Further information about share-based payments to employees is made in Note 8 to the financial 
statements. 
 
Share options 
 
During the financial year 1,076,666 share options were exercised, including the exercise of 810,000 
share options from key management personnel (2012: 4,230,000 share options were issued, including 
2,430,000 share options issued to key management personnel). 
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23. Earnings per share and dividends 
 
Basic and diluted profit per share 
 
The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic and 
diluted profit per share are as follows: 
 
  Consolidated 

  2013 
Cents per share 

 2012 
Cents per share 

Basic profit per share from continuing 
operations 

  
2.9 

 
2.8

Diluted profit per share from continuing 
operations 

  
2.9 

 
2.8

 
 

  Consolidated 
  2013 

$ 
 2012 

$ 

Profit for the period attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of the parent 
entity 

  
 

4,751,323 

 
 

4,225,483
 
 

  Consolidated 

  2013 
No. 

 2012 
No. 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
for the purposes of basic profit per share 

  
 

163,276,669 

  
 

152,095,250
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
for the purposes of diluted profit per share 

  
164,970,591 

  
152,544,394

 
The incremental shares from the assumed exercise of share options are included in calculating diluted 
earnings per share as their conversion is dilutive. 

 
 

Dividends 
 
 Consolidated 

 2013 
$ 

 2012 
$ 

Dividends declared post year end 
Fully franked interim dividend ($0.01 per share) 

 
1,639,711 

 
1,623,572 

 
 
The tax rates applicable to the franking credits attached to the interim dividend and to be attached to 
the final dividend is 30%. The dividend declared for the year ending 30 June 2013 is $1,639,711 
(2012: $1,623,572). The franking credits balance is $1,678,080 as of 30 June 2013. (2012: $118,337). 
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23. Earnings per share and dividends (cont) 
 

Franking Credits 
    
 Parent  
The amount of the franking credits available for 
subsequent reporting periods are: 

2013 
$ 

2012 
$ 

  
Balance at the end of the reporting period 118,337 104,702 
Franking credits that will arise from the payment of the 
amount of provision for income tax 

 
1,691,948 

 
13,635

Franking debits that will arise from the payment of 
dividends recognised as a liability at the end of the 
reporting period 

 
 

(132,205) 

 
 

-
  

 1,678,080 118,337
 
 
24. Leases 

 
Leasing arrangements   
   
Operating leases are entered into as a means of acquiring access to space on building rooftops and
office premises. Rental payments are generally fixed, but with inflation escalation clauses on
which contingent rentals are determined. No purchase options exist in relation to operating leases
and no operating leases contain restrictions on financing or other leasing activities. A renewal
option in connection with the rooftop leases exist. 
 
Operating lease commitments    
 Consolidated 

 2013 
$ 

2012 
$ 

  
   

No longer than 1 year 1,431,017 1,049,682
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 2,686,915 1,558,394
Over 5 years 778,045 512,004

  
Total minimum lease payments 4,895,977 3,120,080

 

 
No liabilities have been recognised in relation to these operating leases. The minimum lease 
payments made in relation to office premises for the year ending 30 June 2013 were $402,157 
(2012: $423,561). 

 
 
The finance leases relate to the leasing of motor vehicles. Finance lease liabilities (See Note 18) are 
secured by the related assets held under finance leases. 
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24. Leases (cont) 
 

 
Finance lease commitments Consolidated 

 2013 
$

    2012 
   $

 
No longer than 1 year 

 
35,652 113,194

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 113,420 150,034
 

Total minimum lease payments 
 

149,072 
 

263,228
  
Less amounts representing finance charges  
No longer than 1 year (8,444) (16,285)
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years (10,178) (18,683)
 
Present value of minimum lease payments 

 
130,450 

 
228,260

 
 

25. Finance costs and finance income 
 
Finance costs for the reporting periods consist of the following: 
 Consolidated 

 2013 
$

    2012 
   $

 
Interest expenses for borrowings at amortised cost 

- Related party loan 
- Other borrowings at amortised cost 

 
 

13,644 
19,986 

 
- 
-

Interest expenses for finance lease arrangements 8,986 -
 

Total interest expenses for financial liabilities not at FVTPL 
 

42,616 
 

-
 
 
Finance income for the reporting periods consist of the following: 
 Consolidated 

 2013 
$

    2012 
   $

 
 
Interest income from cash and cash equivalents 

 
 

5,655 
 

116,423
Interest income from related party receivable 2,915 -

 
Total interest income for financial assets not at FVTPL 

 
8,570 

 
116,423
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26. Subsidiaries 
    Ownership interest 

  Country of 
incorporation 

 2013 
% 

2012 
% 

      
Parent entity      
BigAir Group Limited  Australia n/a n/a 
       
Subsidiary      
Veritel Australia Pty Limited  Australia 100 100 
AccessPlus Pty Limited  Australia 100 100 
Clever Communications Australia Limited  Australia  100 100 
Clever Communication Operations Pty 
Limited 

  
Australia 

  
100 

 
100 

Saise Pty Limited  Australia 100 100 
Activ Australia Pty Limited  Australia 100 100 
Access Providers Group Pty Limited  Australia 100 100 
Allegro Networks Pty Limited  Australia 100 100 
RadioCorp Pty Limited  Australia 100 100 
Link Innovations Pty Limited  Australia 100 100 

 
(i) The Company and its wholly-owned Australian entity are members of a tax consolidated group.  
 
(ii) The subsidiaries all have a financial year end date of 30 June. 

 
 
27. Segment reporting 

The Group identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used 
by the Board of Directors (chief operating decision makers) in assessing performance and determining 
the allocation of resources.  

The Group is managed primarily on the basis of product category and service offerings since the 
diversification of the Group’s operations inherently have notably different risk profiles and 
performance assessment criteria. Operating segments are therefore determined on the same basis.  

Reportable segments disclosed are based on aggregating operating segments where the segments are 
considered to have similar economic characteristics and are also similar with respect to the following: 

 the products sold and/or services provided by the segment; 

 the type or class of customer for the product or service; 

 the distribution method; and 

 any external regulatory requirements. 
  



BigAir Group Limited – Consolidated Entity 
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2013 

 

 
- 74 - 

 

27. Segment reporting (cont) 

 
Types of products and services by segment 
 
(i) Fixed wireless for Business 

 
The BigAir fixed wireless broadband network consists of high speed infrastructure in the form of 
wireless basestations which are located on prominent rooftops in CBD areas and also on 
communication towers in regional areas. Each basestation can support hundreds of concurrent 
customers. Office buildings are connected to this network using carrier-grade wireless equipment 
with different types of equipment used for different customer applications. This division targets 
both the direct and wholesale Corporate communications market. 
 
(ii) Community broadband 

 
The BigAir Community Broadband division delivers managed high speed infrastructure to 
communities and includes the provision of fast and affordable Internet using Ethernet and high speed 
WiFi infrastructure. The focus of this segment is currently on the tertiary student accommodation 
segment however this is expected to expand to other markets in future years.  
 
The Community Broadband division makes use of high speed backhaul infrastructure delivered 
using the Fixed Wireless division. 
 
Basis of accounting for purposes of reporting by operating segments 
 
(a)  Accounting policies adopted 
 
Unless stated otherwise, all amounts reported to the Board of Directors as the chief decision maker 
with respect to operating segments, are determined in accordance with accounting policies that are 
consistent to those adopted in the annual financial statements of the Group. 
 
(b)  Inter-segment transactions 
 
An internally determined transfer price is set for all intersegment sales. This price is reset quarterly 
and is based on what would be realised in the event the sale was made to an external party at arm’s 
length.  All such transactions are eliminated on consolidation of the Group’s financial statements. 

 
Corporate charges are allocated to reporting segments based on management’s estimate of time 
taken to service the business segment or based on the minimum expense required to service the 
business unit as a stand-alone business. The Board of Directors believes this is representative of 
likely consumption of head office expenditure that should be used in assessing segment 
performance and cost recoveries. 
 
Inter-segment loans payable and receivable are initially recognised at the consideration received 
net of transaction costs. No interest is charged on inter-segment loans. 
 
The Group operates in one geographical area being in Australia. 
 
The Group did not undertake any new operations and it did not discontinue any of its existing 
operations during the year. 
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27. Segment reporting (cont) 
 
(c)  Segment assets 
 
Where an asset is used across multiple segments, the asset is allocated to the segment that receives 
the majority of economic value from the asset. In the majority of instances, segment assets are 
clearly identifiable on the basis of their nature and physical location. 
 
Unless indicated otherwise in the segment assets note, investments in financial assets, deferred tax 
assets and intangible assets have not been allocated to operating segments. 
 
(d)  Segment liabilities 
 
Liabilities are allocated to segments where there is direct nexus between the incurrence of the 
liability and the operations of the segment. Borrowings and tax liabilities are generally considered 
to relate to the Group as a whole and are not allocated. Segment liabilities include trade and other 
payables and certain direct borrowings. 
 
(e)  Unallocated items 
 
The following items of revenue, expense, assets and liabilities are not allocated to operating 
segments as they are not considered part of the core operations of any segment: 
 
 Derivatives; 
 Net gains on disposal of available-for-sale investments; 
 Impairment of assets and other non-recurring items of revenue or expense; 
 Income tax expense; 
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities; 
 Intangible assets; and 
 Discontinuing operations 
 
The following is an analysis of the revenue and results for the period, analysed by business 
segment, being the Group’s basis of segmentation. All revenue is earned and all assets are located 
in Australia. 
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27. Segment reporting (cont) 
 
(i) Segment performance  

 
 

  
Fixed wireless  

 
Community broadband 

 
Total 

30 June 
2013 

$ 

30 June 
2012 

$ 

30 June 
2013 

$ 

30 June 
2012 

$ 

30 June 
2013 

$ 

30 June 
2012 

$ 
 

 
Segment net profit from continuing operations before tax 

 
 3,765,293 5,191,122 3,907,855 2,110,501 7,673,148 7,301,623
 
Reconciliation of segment result to group net profit before tax: 
i. Amounts not included in segment result but reviewed by the Board: 
 
Elimination of 
intersegment profits 2,591,591 159,329 (2,598,105) (1,202,435) (6,514) (1,043,106)
Depreciation and 
amortisation (466,850) (150,165) (207,769) (102,845) (674,619) (253,010)
 
Impairment 
expense - - - - - -
Net profit before 
tax from 
continuing 
operations 5,890,034 5,200,286 1,101,981 805,221 6,992,015 6,005,507

 
  

 Fixed wireless  Community broadband Total 

Revenue 

30 June 
2013 

$ 

30 June 
2012 

$ 

30 June 
2013 

$ 

30 June 
2012 

$ 

30 June 
2013 

$ 

30 June 
2012 

$ 

External sales 21,875,221 18,482,273 8,043,202 5,467,510 29,918,423 23,949,783

Intersegment sales (6,514) (1,043,106) - - (6,514) (1,043,106)
 
Interest revenue 8,476 109,551 94 6,872 8,570 116,423
Total segment 
revenue 21,877,183 17,548,718 8,043,296 5,474,382 29,920,479 23,023,100
 
Reconciliation of segment revenue to group revenue: 
 
Other revenue 265,443 150 - 169 265,443 319
   
Total group 
revenue 22,142,626 17,548,868 8,043,296 5,474,551 30,185,922 23,023,419
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27. Segment reporting (cont) 
 
 
(ii) Segment assets 
 Fixed wireless  Community broadband Total 

 30 June 
2013 

$ 

30 June 
2012 

$ 

30 June 
2013 

$ 

30 June 
2012 

$ 

30 June 
2013 

$ 

30 June 
2012 

$ 
  

Segment assets 73,766,449 36,205,946 17,038,313 7,961,721 90,804,762 44,167,667 

Segment asset additions for the period:     

Capital 
expenditure 4,081,142

 
3,797,513 

 
718,224 

 
403,171

 
4,799,366 

 
4,200,684 

 
Acquisitions -

 
5,365,387 

 
- 

 
437,797

 
- 

 
5,803,184 

Reconciliation of segment assets to group assets: 
   
Intersegment 
eliminations (60,409,939) (29,973,958) (15,684,232) (6,831,469) (76,094,171) (36,805,427) 

 
Unallocated assets: 
 

  

Deferred tax 
assets 

768,176 333,428 5,315 5,315 773,491 338,743 

 
Intangible assets 18,367,899 18,772,500

 
178,095

 
213,714

 
18,545,994 

 
18,986,214 

Total group 
assets 36,573,727 34,500,816 2,255,715

 
2,190,249

 
38,829,442 

 
36,691,065 
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27. Segment reporting (cont) 
 
(iii)  Segment liabilities  
 
 Fixed wireless  Community broadband Total 

 

 30 June 
2013 

$ 

30 June 
2012 

$ 

30 June 
2013 

$ 

30 June 
2012 

$ 

30 June 
2013 

$ 

30 June 
 2012 

$ 
 
Segment 
liabilities 50,301,392 24,036,442 17,395,355 9,429,304 67,696,747 33,465,746
    
Reconciliation of segment liabilities to group liabilities: 

Intersegment 
eliminations (46,902,924) (18,394,707) (16,823,654) (8,969,768) (63,726,578) (27,364,475)

Unallocated liabilities: 
 
Other 
financial 
liabilities 130,450 213,956 - 14,304 130,450 228,260
 
Current tax 
liabilities 1,607,728 1,218,006 6,134 6,134 1,613,862 1,224,140

      
Total group 
liabilities 5,136,646 7,073,697 577,835 479,974 5,714,481 7,553,671
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28. Related party transactions  
 
(a) Equity interests in related parties 
 

Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 26 to the 
financial statements. 

 
(b) Key management personnel equity holdings 
 

Fully paid ordinary shares of BigAir Group Limited 
 

 

Balance at  
1 July 

 
 
 

No. 

Granted as 
remuneration 

 
 
 

No. 

Received 
on 

exercise 
of options 

No. 

Ordinary 
shares 

acquired 
 
 

No. 

Net other 
change 

 
 
 

No. 

Balance at  
30 June 

 
 
 

No. 
 
2013 

     

Paul Tyler 1,226,735 - 150,000 - - 1,376,735 
Nigel Jeffries 50,000 - 150,000 - - 200,000 
Vivian Stewart 7,698,174 - 150,000 - (3,000,000) 4,848,174 
Jason Ashton 9,880,237 3,448 200,000 - - 10,083,685 
Charles Chapman 1,007,092 3,448 160,000 - - 1,170,540 
  

19,862,238 
 

6,896 810,000
 

- 
 

(3,000,000) 
 

17,679,134 
 
2012 

     

Paul Tyler 1,226,735 - - - - 1,226,735 
Nigel Jeffries* 50,000 - - - - 50,000 
Vivian Stewart 7,698,174 - - - - 7,698,174 
Jason Ashton 9,873,145 7,092 - - - 9,880,237 
Charles Chapman 500,000 7,092 - 500,000 - 1,007,092 
  

19,348,054 
 

14,184 -
 

500,000 
 

- 
 

19,862,238 
    

 
 * Correction as per ASX release Appendix 3Y on 17 April 2012 
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28.  Related party transactions (cont) 
 
(c) Executive share options of BigAir Group Limited 
 

 

Balance 
at 1 July 

 
 

No. 

Received 
as 

remun-
eration 

No. 

Exercise 
of options

 
 

No. 

Net other 
change 

 
 

No. 

Balance 
at 30 
June 

 
No. 

Balance 
vested at 
30 June 

 
No. 

Vested  
but not 
exercis-

able 
No. 

Vested 
and 

exercise
-able 
No. 

Options 
vested 
during 
year 
No. 

 
2013      
Jason Ashton 600,000 -   (200,000) - 400,000 - - - - 
Charles Chapman 480,000 - (160,000) - 320,000 - - - - 
Paul Tyler 450,000 - (150,000) - 300,000 - - - - 
Nigel Jeffries 450,000 - (150,000) - 300,000 - - - - 
Vivian Stewart 450,000 - (150,000) - 300,000 - - - - 
 2,430,000 - (810,000) - 1,620,000 - - - - 

 
2012     
Jason Ashton - 600,000 - - 600,000 - - - - 
Charles Chapman - 480,000 - - 480,000 - - - - 
Paul Tyler - 450,000 - - 450,000 - - - - 
Nigel Jeffries - 450,000 - - 450,000 - - - - 
Vivian Stewart - 450,000 - - 450,000 - - - - 
  

- 2,430,000 - - 2,430,000 - - - - 
 

During the financial year, 810,000 options were exercised by key management personnel on 28 
December 2012.  Further details of the executive share option plan and of share options in operation 
during the financial year are contained in Note 8 to the financial statements. 
 
 (d) Transactions with other related parties 
 
Transactions between BigAir Group Limited and its related parties 
 
Transactions and balances between the Company and its subsidiaries were eliminated in the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements of the Group.  

 
 

29. Notes to the cash flow statement 

(a)     Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and 
in banks and investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and 
cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled 
to the related items in the statement of financial position as follows: 

 

 

 
  Consolidated  

  2013 
$ 

2012 
$ 

 

     
 Cash and cash equivalents  2,101,074 1,030,996  
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 (b) Non-cash financing and investing activities 
       

 The Group issued $155,076 in shares as part of the Unistar acquisition on 14 September 2012 
and issued $106,976 in shares on 28 December 2012 as part of the Employee Share Scheme.  
Apart from this transaction, the Group did not have any non-cash financing and investing 
activities during the year.  

 
 (c) Financing Facilities 
       

 During the current financial year, the Group did not have any used or unused loan facilities.  
 
 (d) Cash balances not available for use 
       

 During the current financial year, there were no significant cash and cash equivalent balances 
that were not available for use. 

       

 (e) Reconciliation of loss for the period to net cash flows from operating activities 
 

  Consolidated  

  2013 
$ 

2012 
$ 

 

     

 Profit for the year  4,751,323 4,225,484  
 Depreciation of non-current assets 3,357,013 2,886,609  
 Amortisation of non-current assets 1,353,964 913,821  
 Equity settled share-based payment 546,196 279,573  
 Net gain on disposal of investment - -  
 Net loss on disposal of plant and equipment 5,747 319  
 (Increase)/decrease in deferred tax balances 27,014 625,419  
  

   
 Changes in net assets and  liabilities, net of effects from  

  acquisition and disposal of  businesses:   
 Decrease/(increase) in assets:   
   Trade and other receivables 26,666 (513,037)  
   Inventories 141,814 2,170  
   Other current assets 50,878 31,396  
 (Decrease)/increase in liabilities:   
   Trade and other  payables (1,403,015) (30,939)  
   Other current liabilities (514,510) (102,230)  

  Current tax liabilities 616,050 1,041,952  
  Current provisions (137,788) 28,361  

   Deferred tax liabilities (94,322) -  
  

Cash flows provided by operations 8,727,030 9,388,898  
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30. Financial instruments 
 
(a) Capital risk management 
 
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivable and 
accounts payable.  

 
(b) Categories of financial instruments 

 
The total for each category of financial instrument, measured in accordance with AASB 139 as 
detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows:  
 

  Consolidated  

  
2013 

$ 
2012 

$
 

 
Financial assets 
Loans and receivables: 

 

Trade and other receivables 1,759,833 1,871,532
Cash and cash equivalents 2,101,074 1,030,996
  
 3,860,907 2,902,528
 
Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost: 

 

Non-current:  
Borrowings 103,242 213,956
Current:  
Trade and other payables 3,262,085 5,028,227
Borrowings 27,208 14,304
  
 3,392,535 5,256,487

 
As at the end of the financial year, the Group also has bank guarantees with Westpac of $85,081, 
which is included in the cash and cash equivalents balance.  Trade receivables and payables are not 
interest bearing.  
 
(c)  Financial risk management objectives 
 
The Group is exposed to various risks in relation to financial instruments. The Group’s financial 
assets and liabilities by category are summarised in Note 30(b). The main types of risks market risk, 
credit risk and liquidity risk. 
 
The Group's risk management is coordinated at its headquarters, in close cooperation with the board of 
directors, and focuses on actively securing the Group's short to medium-term cash flows by 
minimising the exposure to financial markets.  
 
The Group does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor does 
it write options. The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described 
below. The Group is exposed to market risk specifically to interest rate risk which result from both its 
operating and investing activities. 
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30. Financial instruments (cont) 
 

(d) Market risk  
 
The Group’s activities do not expose it to market financial risks. Except as noted above in relation to 
hedges entered into during the period there has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market 
risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk from the previous period.   

 
(e) Foreign currency risk management  
 

 The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk.  
 

(f) Interest rate risk management  
 
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on cash holdings.  The risk is managed by the Group by 
ensuring that cash holdings must be invested in one of Australia’s large 4 banks and that any 
borrowings are obtained at fixed interest rates.  

 
The following tables detail the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk: 
 

2013 

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate
% 

Maturity dates Non-
interest 
bearing 

 
$ 

 
Total 

 
 
$ 

Less than 
1 year 

 
$ 

1-5 years 
 
 
$ 

More 
than 5 
years 

$ 
     
Financial assets:     
Cash and cash 
equivalents 2.74% 2,101,074 - - - 2,101,074 
Trade and other 
receivables  - - - - 1,759,833 1,759,833 
 

 
 

2,101,074 - - 1,759,833 3,860,907 
Financial liabilities:     
Trade and other 
payables - - - - 3,262,085 3,262,085 
Borrowings 16.13% 27,208 103,242 - - 130,450 
 

 
 

27,208 103,242 - 3,262,085 3,392,535 

 

2012 

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate
% 

Maturity dates Non-
interest 
bearing 

 
$ 

 
Total 

 
 
$ 

Less than 
1 year 

 
$ 

1-5 years 
 
 
$ 

More 
than 5 
years 

$ 
     
Financial assets:     
Cash and cash 
equivalents 0.95% 1,030,996 - - - 1,030,996 
Trade and other 
receivables  - - - - 1,871,532 1,871,532 
 

 
 

1,030,996 - - 1,871,532 2,902,528 
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30. Financial instruments (cont) 
 

2012 

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate
% 

Maturity dates Non-
interest 
bearing 

 
$ 

 
Total 

 
 
$ 

Less than 
1 year 

 
$ 

1-5 years 
 
 
$ 

More 
than 5 
years 

$ 
     
Financial liabilities:     
Trade and other 
payables - - - - 5,028,227 5,028,227 
Borrowings 13.77% 14,304 213,956 - - 228,260 
 

 
 

14,304 213,956 - 5,028,227 5,256,487 

 
Sensitivity Analysis 

  Consolidated  

  
Profit 

$ 
Equity 

$
 

 
+/- 2% in interest rates 42,021 42,021
 
 (g) Credit risk management 
 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy 
counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults.   

 
Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on 
the financial condition of accounts receivable. Weekly debtors meetings are held where the ageing of 
material debtors is reviewed and action agreed and taken if required.  
 
The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group 
of counterparties having similar characteristics.  
 
 (h) Liquidity risk management 

 

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve 
borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the 
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

 

 (i) Fair value of financial instruments 
 
The directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in 
the financial statements approximates their fair values. The fair values and net fair values of financial 
assets and financial liabilities are determined with reference to the standard terms and conditions. 

 
(j)     Other price risk sensitivity 
 
The Group is not exposed to any other price risk.  
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31. Acquisition of a business 
 
(a) Allegro Networks  
 
On 31 May 2012, the Group entered into a binding agreement to acquire all of the shares in Allegro 
Networks Pty Ltd and RadioCorp Pty Ltd (“Allegro”). Allegro is a Queensland based 
Telecommunications carrier founded in 2005 that has its own high speed wireless network providing 
blanket coverage over South East Queensland – extending from the Gold Coast through Brisbane 
and the Sunshine Coast and the growth corridors in between. Allegro is also extending its fixed 
wireless network into the key regional growth markets of Gladstone and Mackay. In 2006 Allegro 
invested in licensed 3.5GHz spectrum and built Australia’s first certified WiMAX network. Allegro 
is an established supplier in the tertiary student accommodation Internet market, currently servicing 
more than 60 sites that contain approximately 8,000 student beds.  
 
Allegro has been consolidated into the Group from the date of control which was 31 May 2012.  

 
  Consolidated 

  

Acquiree’s 
carrying 
amount 

$ 

Fair Value 
 
 

$ 
Fair value of consideration transferred  
Cash 
Equity issued 

 3,750,000
3,750,000

Revenue earn-out  475,715
  7,975,715
  
  
Less:  
Cash and cash equivalents 
Receivables 

(2,026) 
203,065 

(2,026)
162,181

Inventories 127,391 127,391
Other assets 169,711 169,711
Property, plant and equipment 4,096,820 4,096,255
Intangibles 359,073 374,900
Deferred tax asset - 1,054,007
Customer base - 666,789
Deferred tax liability - (200,037)
Payables (1,140,780) (1,283,504)
  
 3,813,254 5,165,667
  
Identifiable assets and liabilities assumed   5,165,667
  
Goodwill on acquisition  2,810,048
 
Consideration transferred settled in cash 
Cash and cash equivalents acquired 

 3,750,000 
2,026

Net cash outflow on acquisition  3,752,026
Acquisition costs charged to expenses  (332,280)
Net cash paid relating to the acquisition  3,419,746
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31. Acquisition of a business (cont) 
 

 Consideration transferred 
The acquisition of Allegro was settled in cash of $3,750,000. Acquisition-related costs amounting to 
$332,280 are not included as part of consideration transferred and have been recognised as an expense 
in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, as part of ‘General 
administration expense’. The Group acquired Allegro for an aggregate purchase price of $8.0m 
comprising: 

 $3,750,000 cash and $3,750,000 worth of BigAir shares (based on the 5 day volume 
weighted average price of BigAir shares as at 31 May 2012 which was 36.8c); 

 Revenue earn-out of $475,715 payable within 30 days of the release of Allegro’s FY2013 
audited accounts. For an earn-out to be payable, Student Revenue in FY2013 must exceed 
$2.2 million or Non Student Revenue must exceed $3.3 million in FY2013. In addition, an 
earn-out is also payable for project revenue including but not limited to construct and 
operate solutions such as private wireless networks. 

 
Identifiable net assets 
The fair value of the trade and other receivables acquired as part of the business combination 
amounted to $162,181, with a gross contractual amount of $162,181.  
 
Goodwill 
Goodwill of $2,810,048 is primarily related to growth expectations, expected future profitability, the 
substantial skill and expertise of Allegro's workforce and expected cost synergies. Goodwill has been 
allocated to cash-generating units and is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

 
Allegro’s contribution to the Group results 
Revenue generated from the acquisition of Allegro included in the consolidated revenue of the Group 
for the financial reporting year of 30 June 2013 amounted to $4,485,481. Net loss generated from the 
acquisition of Allegro included in the consolidated profit of the Group for the financial reporting year 
of 30 June 2013 amounted to $943,356. 
 
The values identified in relation to the acquisition of Allegro are final as at 30 June 2013. 
 

 
(b) Link Innovations 
 
On 29 June 2012, the Group entered into a share sale agreement to acquire all of the shares in fixed 
wireless network operator Link Innovations Pty Ltd (“Link”). Link Innovations operates its own high-
speed business to business Fixed Wireless Ethernet Broadband network. The network spans 
throughout Sydney, Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane, Newcastle and a number of regional markets 
including Gosford, Coffs Harbour and Dubbo. 
 
Link has been consolidated into the Group from the date of control which was 29 June 2012. 
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31.  Acquisition of a business (cont) 
 
  Consolidated 

  

Acquiree’s 
carrying 
amount 

$ 

Fair Value 
 
 

$ 
Fair value of consideration transferred  
Cash 
Deferred cash based on performance 
Equity issued 

 800,000 
700,000 
250,000 

Revenue earn-out  113,235 
  1,863,235 
   
Less:   
Cash and cash equivalents 
Receivables 

201,879 
250,318 

201,879 
206,170 

Other assets 108,524 108,524 
Property, plant and equipment 428,189 369,292 
Deferred tax asset - 8,033 
Customer base - 905,236 
Deferred tax liability - (271,571) 
Borrowings (321,618) (213,957) 
Payables (718,134) (955,197) 
   

(50,842) 358,409 
 

Identifiable assets and liabilities assumed   358,409  
   

Goodwill on acquisition  1,504,826 
 

Consideration transferred settled in cash 
Cash and cash equivalents acquired 

 800,000 
(201,879) 

Net cash outflow on acquisition  598,121 
Acquisition costs charged to expenses  (187,971) 
Net cash paid relating to the acquisition  410,150 

 
 

Consideration transferred 
The acquisition of Link was settled in cash of $800,000. Acquisition-related costs amounting to 
$187,971 are not included as part of consideration transferred and have been recognised as an expense 
in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, as part of ‘General 
administration expense’. The Group acquired Link for an aggregate purchase price of $1.86m 
comprising: 

 $800,000 cash and $250,000 worth of BigAir shares (based on the 5 day volume weighted 
average price of BigAir shares as at 29 June 2012 which was 37c); 

 $700,000 cash to be paid in 12 months; 
 Revenue earn-out of $113,235 payable within 30 days of the finalisation of FY2013 audited 

accounts based on revenue achievement with the minimum revenue hurdle of $2.4 million. 
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31.  Acquisition of a business (cont) 
 

 Variable payment of up to $500,000 in cash payable within 30 days of the finalisation of 
FY2014 audited accounts based on revenue achievement with the minimum revenue hurdle 
of $3 million. 

 
Identifiable net assets 
The fair value of the trade and other receivables acquired as part of the business combination 
amounted to $206,170, with a gross contractual amount of $206,170.  
 
Goodwill 
Goodwill of $1,504,826 is primarily related to growth expectations, expected future profitability, the 
substantial skill and expertise of Link's workforce and expected cost synergies. Goodwill has been 
allocated to cash-generating units and is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

 
  Link’s contribution to the Group results 

Revenue generated from the acquisition of Link included in the consolidated revenue of the Group for 
the financial reporting year of 30 June 2013 amounted to $2,311,600. Net profit generated from the 
acquisition of Link included in the consolidated profit of the Group for the financial reporting year of 
30 June 2013 amounted to $627,360. 
 
The values identified in relation to the acquisition of Link are final as at 30 June 2013. 

 
32. Subsequent events 
 

On 6 August 2013, the Group entered into a share sale agreement to acquire all of the shares in 
Western Australia-based telecommunications carrier Intelligent IP Communications Pty Ltd (“IIPC”). 
The acquisition is expected to complete on or before 31 August 2013. 
 
Acquisition details 
The Group will acquire IIPC for an upfront consideration of $10 million with a further $10 million to 
be paid based on the performance of IIPC in FY2014 and FY2015: 

 Fixed payment of $6.5 million in cash payable on completion. 
 Fixed payment of $3.5 million in BGL shares on completion, issued at the 30 day VWAP for 

BGL shares as at 6 August 2013 (59.3 cents). 
 Four semi-annual earn out payments. The incremental EBITDA is measured against a 

baseline EBITDA of $1.4 million and calculated using a 3.0 times multiple of the increased 
incremental EBITDA after subtracting any prior earn out payments. The earn out periods are 
the rolling 12 month periods ending 31 December 2013, 30 June 2014, 31 December 2014 
and 30 June 2015 and the payments will be made 80% in cash and 20% in BGL shares. 

 The total acquisition price is capped at a maximum of $20 million. 
 
Funding for the acquisition 
The upfront cash payment will be funded via a 3 year debt facility and any future earn out cash 
payments will be paid from net operating cash flow. BigAir has enjoyed strong growth in its free cash 
flow over the last two years and the Board believes that now is the right time to take advantage of the 
reduced cost of capital available through a conservative amount of debt funding.  
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33. Commitments for expenditure 
 
 

(a) Capital expenditure commitments 
  Consolidated 

  
2013 

$ 
2012 

$
 

  
Broadband infrastructure  419,212 400,515
  

 
(b) Lease commitments 
 

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments are disclosed in Note 24 to the financial statements. 
 
 

34. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
 

The Group has bank guarantees of $85,081 (See Note 30(b)). 
 
The Group has no other contingent liabilities or assets as at the end of the financial year.  

 
 
35. BigAir Group Ltd parent company information 
 

  Parent Entity  

  
2013 

$ 
2012 

$ 
 

    
Assets    
Current assets  2,580,856  1,859,224  
Non-current assets  59,874,528  42,812,973  
    
Total assets  62,455,384 44,672,197  
    
Liabilities    
Current liabilities  1,406,148 3,647,957  
Non-current liabilities  30,695,682 14,037,850  
    
Total liabilities  32,101,830 17,685,807  
    
Equity    
Share capital  27,540,342  26,974,670  
Share option reserve  490,217  206,073  
Retained earnings  2,322,995 (194,353)  
    
Total equity  30,353,554  26,986,390  
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35.  BigAir Group Ltd parent company information (cont) 
 

 
 
BigAir Group Ltd also has capital expenditure commitments, details of which are disclosed in Note 
33(a), above.   

 
 
36.  Authorisation of financial statements 
 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 (including comparatives) 
were approved by the board of directors on 19 August 2013. 

 

  Parent Entity  

  
2013 

$
2012 

$ 
 

Financial Performance     
Profit for the year  4,140,921  2,629,194  
Other comprehensive 
income  -  - 

 

 
Total  comprehensive 
income  4,140,921 2,629,194 
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Additional information required by the ASX Limited Listing Rules and not disclosed elsewhere in this 
report is set out below. The information is effective as at 08 August 2013. 
 
Number of holders of equity securities 
 
Ordinary share capital 
 
 163,971,055 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 1,773 individual shareholders. 
  
On-market buy-back 
 
The Company has no on-market buy-back.  
 
Substantial shareholders 
 Fully Paid 
Ordinary shareholders Number Percentage
  
National Nominees Limited 24,554,098 14.975
Microequities Asset Management Pty Limited   10,679,200 6.513
Jmas Pty Ltd 9,579,718 5.842
Aust Executor Trustees SA Ltd    8,312,145 5.069
 
Voting rights 
 
Ordinary shares  
On a show of hands, every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and 
upon a poll each share shall have one vote. 
 
Options 
No voting rights. 
 
Distribution of holders of equity securities 
 

Security Classes    
    

Holdings Ranges Holders Total Units % 
1-1,000 119 69,537 0.042 

1,001-5,000 444 1,331,010 0.812 
5,001-10,000 430 3,484,847 2.125 

10,001-100,000 642 21,931,367 13.375 
100,001-99,999,999 138 137,154,294 83.645 

Totals 1,773 163,971,055 100.000 
 
    

Marketable parcels 
The number of holders holding less than a marketable parcel of the company’s main class of securities, 
based on the market price at 8 August 2013 is 56. 
 
 



BigAir Group Limited – Consolidated Entity 
 

ASX additional information 
as at 30 June 2013 (cont) 

 
 

 
- 92 - 

 

Securities exchange 
 
The Company is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. 
 
Twenty largest holders of quoted equity securities 
 
 Fully Paid 
Ordinary shareholders Number Percentage 
   
National Nominees Limited 24,554,098 14.975 
Microequities Asset Management Pty Limited   10,679,200 6.513 
Jmas Pty Ltd 9,579,718 5.842 
Aust Executor Trustees SA Ltd    8,312,145 5.069 
Mirrabooka Investments Ltd 7,000,000 4.269 
Vorpal Pty Limited 4,361,704 2.660 
CitiCorp Nominees Pty Limited 4,165,663 2.540 
Custodial Services Ltd 4,022,000 2.453 
Cullingral Pty Limited   3,859,011 2.353 
JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 2,520,086 1.537 
Benchmark Trading Pty Ltd 2,489,907 1.519 
Amcil Limited 2,479,427 1.512 
Symmall Pty Ltd   2,300,000 1.403 
Ditchley Pty Ltd 2,001,933 1.221 
L J Catelan Superannuation Fund Pty Lt 1,949,037 1.189 
M L Catelan Superannuation Fund Pty Lt 1,949,037 1.189 
Old Fletcher & Partners Pty Ltd   1,805,077 1.101 
Equitas Nominees Pty Limited  1,672,510 1.020 
Fretensis Pty Ltd 1,400,000 .854 
Mr Paul David Tyler 1,376,735 .840 
 98,477,288 60.058 

 
Company Secretary 
Charles Chapman 
 
Registered office and principle administration office 
Level 1 
59 Buckingham Street 
Surry Hills  NSW  2010 
Tel: (02) 9993 1300 
 
Share registry 
Boardroom Pty Limited 
Level 7 
207 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
Tel:  (02) 9290 9600 
 


	L-130812-RMA-Independence Declaration
	L-130812- RMA-Corporations Act audit report
	Accounts

